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— CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE

his past vear has been a challenging one for

libraries. The increasing demand for services

creates overioaded staft. The increasing costs for

materials strain decreasing budgets. Anincreas-
ing number of technological methods of managing informa-
tion calls into question the role of the library as the primary
information provider within the community it serves. The
increasing array of formats in which information can appear
complicates the means by which libraries gatherinformation
and make it available,

At the national level, there is attention to the development
i an “information highwav™ and to “digital” libraries, while
at local levels. libraries are reducing hours. cutting statfand
services.and. in some cases, closing doors. While knowledge
workers are heralded as necessarv 1o the future in this
increasingly information-intensive age. our library schools
continue to be dismantled.

The Council's broad mandate, “to address the problems of

libraries.” presents us with ample challenges. In this current.
complex environment, we must find a way to make a
difference: we are limited only by our financial resources.
The Board of Directors has worked closely with our president
during the past vear to sharpen our focus and to evaluate
strategies to assure the continued contribution of the Council
10 libraries and to the broader society they serve,




— PRESIDENT'S MESSAGE

s our Chairman has observed, there are niany
challenges facing both the Council and the
lthrary community it serves. A changing
environment is caasing all otusto rethink our
roles. structures, and focus. To help us with
this task. the Council has been holding mecetings of individu-
als associated with rescarch libraries and urban public
libraries. along with library educators. The resulting discus-
sions and our assessment of them confirm the need for

vision, leadership. and organizational planning to help the
librarv and information services profession play a more
proactive role in the information age.

The task betore the Council, and the library community in
general. is 1o demonstrate that libraries are crucial to the
survival of a democratic society. This is not a simpice task.
\ost sources of funding ofien do not see the direct connec-
iton bhetween their own agenda and the role of libraries.
Thase who do understand are already stretched thin by more g
requests than they can fulfill.

At the same time. new technology appears to offer ready
access 1o vast amounts of information, but there are serious
barriers that must be overcome if the “digital libraries™ now
spoken ol so often are truly to serve society and not just a
technically clite few. Research is needed to address the
- significant amray of problems that create barriers 1o ready
access 1o the information in our nation’s libraries.  Such
barriers can be technical, cconomic. organizational. or
sociopolitical.

The Council's programs are dedicated 1o assuring that these
barriers are understood and minimized. This vear’s annual
report contains more than details of our current programs,
however. 1t also comtains a special insert concerning the
history of the Council and its contributions to the library
community and saciety in general. This information. we

believe, demonstrates the major influence one organization
can have on our nation’s information infrastructure, despite
relatively limited funding support.

The Council was created 1o address the problems of libraries |
and is now commitied to the most significant library
problem of all—ensuring that library resources are embraced
as part of the solution for people who seck tosolve theirown ]
problems and those ot their communities and institutions. In

the coming ycar. the Council must demonstrate clearly its

relevance as ameansto solve problems, justaslibraries must, [ |
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— OVERVIEW

hen the Council on Library Resources

was created in 1956, its purpose was

stated broadly: “toaid in the solution of

library problems.”  Indicative of the
intfluence that funding sources can have on the Council or
any other organization. the general objective expressed in
the charter was turther specitied by the Ford Foundation

initiating grant 1o be “for the pumose of aiding in the

solution of the problems of libraries generally. and of

rescarch libraries in particular.” Other modifications of the
purpose resulting from the initiating grant related to the
condret of rescarch and development. and added to the
Council's role “making grams to other instiwtions and
persons tor such purposes: and providing leadership in. and
wnerever appropriate. coordination of efforis {11 1o develop
the resaurces and services of libraries and (2} to improve
relations between Amencan and foreign libraries and or-

chives.”

As the Council's chaimman stated in his message in last year's
annual report. an analysis of the complex environment in
whicli we operate today indicates that today’s “library
problems.” such as shrinking budgets and rising costs. arc a
subset of targer societal problems.  The institutions that
libraries serve {e.g.. universities, communities, schools, gov-
crinment agencies. and corporations) continue to lace eco-
nomic and sociopoiitical challenges of an unprecedented
nature. | oundations that traditionally have tunded librarv
programs and research have turned 1o broader societal issues
of poventy. health care, urban decay. racial discrimination,

failing cducational svstems, and deterioraung infrastruc-

ture, as well as international challenges.

The Council’s assessment of the environment in which itand

the libraries it serves must operate includes:

* A switch to a service-based society

Organizations are focusing on customer service even though
they may still manufacture goods—ofien in other countrices.
Other institwtions, including universities and other not-for-
protit organizations. are beginning 10 view themselves in

this service-based environment from a business viewpoint,

Council an Library Resources, Ine.. FIRST ANNUAL RFFPORT (Wash-
maron. 7L 19571 5.

e An increased emphasis on "accountability”

Institutions are being challended 1o measure their perfor-
mance in explicit ways. Institutions that were previously
supported routinely are being asked to demonstrate their
worth.

¢ The changing demographic makcup of the United States

The shift toward increased cultural diversity has major
implications for the work force in the information service

arena as well as the user base it will serve.

e increasing globalization of institutions

Countries, industrics, and key social institutions arc no
fonger operating in isolation. East and West are meeting in

the marketplace as well as m political forums.

e A troubled economy. both in the United States and
worldwide

Some of our nation’s most vital institutions are having to
rethink their levels of spending. At the same time. global
economics is plaving an increasingly important role as we
see the fragmentation of Eastern Europe. the unification of
Western Europe, and the continuing emergence of the
Pacific Rim as a major cconomic force.

The trends for the Council’s traditional academic audience
include a decline in the college-age population, an impend-
ing shortage ot Ph.D.-trained faculty. curriculum changes,
greater emphasis on and new approaches to teaching. cost
control and program redesign due to limited resources. more
t ~us and sclectivity in academic programs, and new wayvs
of publishing and evaluating scholarly work. This last trend
is the focus of a report from the Andrew W. Mellon
Foundation, University Libraries and Scholariv Communica-
tion.” which contains a wealth oi'information on the state of
research libraries today and the clectronic possibilities of
1OMOTTOW.

“Anthony M. Cummings. ot al., UNIVFRSITY LIBRARIES AND
SCHOLARLY COMMUNICATION: \ STUDY PRFPARED FFOR THE
ANDREW W. MELLON FOUNDATION (Washington. D.C.: The Asso-
ciation of Rescarch [ibraries for The Andrew W, Mellon Foundation,
Norember 1992},

LS
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These trends and the need tor libranes to be able to respond
1o them in new ways were underscored during the vear as the
Council held focus group sessions for rescarch librariansand
urban pubtic librarians. The session participants identified
the role of the library. financing and accountabilitv. technol-
ogy. and adaptation to change as major arcas of concern.
Each of these topics can be addressed by one of the Council's
program arcas: adaptation 1o change is a human resource
need, financing and accountability are included in ecconom-
ics. infrastructure addresses the role of the library, and
technology is an important component of our access and

processing area.

For the Council on Library Resources to address its original
purpose. we must continually respond to this changing
environment. We must relate the activities of libraries and
fibrarians 1o the urgent problems of contemporarv society.
not as another problem. but rather as institutions and
individuals capable of providing solutions 1o broader soci-
etal issues. For us. and for many foundations. an implicit
goal is 1o develop setf-sufficiency among the communities,
groups, and individuals we seek to help. Self-sufficiency in
this context means the capability 1o address long-term
problems on one’s own without continued intervention.

The overall goals of the Council are 1o help libraries embrace
a forward-looking mission and vision and to help founda-
tions sec a close relationship between their objectives and the
ohjectives of the libraries of the future. The Council's four
general program areas—human resources. economics. infra-
structure, and access and processing—not oniy have allowed
us to address these goals. but also have provided the
framework in which previously committed projects have
heen classified and new projects have been initiated. These
programs have been defined broadly enough to provide
flexibility, hut narrowly enough 1o focus attention on
specific needs in the emerging information service arena.

The report that follows describes both completed and initi-
ated projects in the Council’s program areas. and provides a
picture of the Council’'s current activitics. Reports on
research funded in previous vears are also included in this
overview. Full citations 1o the works referenced appear in
the bibliography beginning on page 30: current projects are
listed in the section beginning on page 36. Grants and
Contracts Active in Fiscal 1993.

BESTCOPY AVAILABLE

HUMAN RESOURCES

hroughout its history. the Council has supported
etforts to improve the skills of the individuals
who direet and staft libraries and information
service svstems.  The current human resources
program is intended to develop leaders on a continuing basis
who can build and manage the information support sysiems
needed by society and to assist current leaders in developing
the skills needed to transform their institutions in response
te changing societal needs. This program arca emphasizes
leadership and management development. recruitment. edu-
cation. and research.

LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT
Academic Library Management Intern Program

Two interns participated in this long-standing Council
program in 1992-93_ bringing to fiftv-five the total number
of librarians who have honed their management skills by
spending an academic vear with the director and senior staff
ot alarge and well-managed library. Heather Gordon served
her internship with Jerrv D. Cam};bcll. University Librarian
atDuke University. Judy McQueen interned with Richard De
Gennaro, Roy E. Larsen Librarian at Harvard College.

Although thoe intern program has becn very successtul since
its inception in 1974, as witnessed by the fact that a large
percentage of former interns hold directorships or senior
administrative positions in major academic libraries. the
Council has decided to suspend it indefinitely afterthe 1992-
93 academic year. Evaluation has suggested that there mav
not be the same need for this kind of program as there was
twenty years ago, and that there may be alternative ways of
preparing future administrators that would allow greater
numbers of people to participate for a similar investment of
financial resources.

ACRL/CLS College Library Director Mentor Program

In June 1992. the Council awarded a grant to Eckerd College
1o cover initial costs, for a two-year period, of a program
designed 1o enhance the leadership capabilities of newly
appointed college librarv directors, many of whom have
never served in positions that directly prepare them for

leadership in a college library. The program was developed

14




by the Leadership Commiuee, College Libraries Secuon. of

the Association of College and Research Libraries and was
coordinated by Larrv Hardesty of Eckerd College.

New directors panticipating in the program are matched with
experienced college librarv directors. who act as their
mentors or peer consultants. Nominations for participation
in the program come rom new direciors themselves or from
academic deans who have recently hired new directors. CLR
funds support campus visits between each pair of individu-
als. telephone communicatien. and a three-day seminar at
the end of each vear for the new directors,

Fourteen first-vear directors participated in the program
during the 1992-93 academic vear. in general, the relation-
ships were very productive. helping to counter the isolation
from peers that many new directors feel. and contributing a
new perspective to the experienced library directors. Sup-
por for rhis program trom academic deans has been positive
as well. The first vear ended successtully with a three-day
seminar held at Loyola University in New Orleans prior to the

annual American Librarv Association meeting in June.

LIBRARY s\D INFORMATION STUDIES CURRICULA
Education for Diversity

The Council made a grant this year to the Graduate School
of Library and Information Studices at Queens College/CUNY
10 conduct a series of four seminars/workshops centered
around multiculturalism and diversity in the work place.
\lthoueh the school has a major commitment 1o diversity—
as represented by the composition of its student body,
availability o. fellowships, and courses otfered—faculty teel
that they do not know ecnough about issucs related to
nulticulturalisni. The intent of the workshops is to draw on
resources of the meiropolitan New York community to
identity primary arcas of concern relating to the topic. This
activity will contribute to new strategies for redesigning the
curriculum in order to provide improved services 10 a
multicultural audience.  Two seminars were conducted
during the 1992-93 academic vear: the remaining two are
scheduled for the fall of 1993,

Knowledge and Skills for Health Information Professionals

Changes in the health information environment have pre-
saged significant changes in the knowledge and skills

expected ot health information professionals in the tuture.
However. there is little research on which to base judgments
about what general arcas of expertise are likely 10 be
required. Fred Roper. Dean of the College of Librany and
Information Science at the University of South Carolina. and
Chair of the Medical Library Association (MLA) Knowledge
and Skills Task Force. was principal investigator of a 1990
drant intended 0 assess the present level of specific knowl-
cdge and skills among health science librarians and their
perceptions about requirements for the future. The report of
the survey was completed in the fall of 1992.

The repont proved influential. An MLA educational policy
statement, Platform for Change, adopted by its Board of
Directors in December 1991, is a major by-product of the
survey. Its implementiation is _cbnsidercd an MLA prioritv.
The Platform describes the needs for lifelong, interdiscipli-
nary learning for the ficid, anticipates that the amount of
health care information will continue 1o grow exp~nentially.
and predicts that health C'lrewiﬁ be one ot the nation’s most
critical information issues. UsanD g the results ofthe survey.,
the Knowledge and Skills Task Force of MLA developcd a
comprehensive plan for education for hea]th mformauon
specmllsts throughout an individual's carr:er mchxdmg a
strong continuing education role by the Medical Library
Association and the National Librarv of Medicine (NLM].
NLM is currently using the results of the research in a
planning pane! it has established to consider education and
training.

Futere of Epucamoy ror LIBRARIANSHIP

The Council contracted with the Palmer Schoei of Library
and Information Science. Long Island University. to survey
the relevant literature and prepare an annotated bibliogra-
phy and report synthesizing ernerging trends and concepts
in library and information science education. The results will
he uscd to facilitate CLR planning for projects and programs
in our human resources area.

StrATIGIC VISIONS

The Council’s 1992 annual report described the formation
and initial meetings of the Strategic Visions Discussion
Group. formed by a group of librarians interested in the role
of the librarian and the library of the future. A draft vision
statement and a discussion draft of the values and qualities

SESTCOPY AVAILABLE
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ot librarianship that will be desirable in the next century
were generated during the first vear.

susan Martin described the group’s formation in the pro-
ceedings of the 1992 President’s Progiram of the Association
for Library Collections and Technical Senvices. With its
September 1992 issue. the Journal of Academic Librariansihip
established a regular “Visions™ column to address the
coming changes for libraries and the profession itself. In the
first column. Don Bosseau and Susan Martin provided some
background on the strategic visions group. The Palmer
School of Library and Information Science. Long lsland
University, used Strategic Visions documents and members
of the Strategic Visions Group to facilitate the planning

process as part of its reaccreditation effort.

This vear. discussions continued at the nanonal and local
levels and were assisted by the operations ot an open listserv
connection for the Strategic Visions Group. e electronic
mail faciiity. established @t San Dicgo State University.
generated over 1,000 messages among its 348 subscribers in
the {irst year of operation.

REesearcH REPORTS
Recruitment, Job Classification, and Promotion in Libraries

Recruiting and retaining qualified students interested in
library and information science is of paramount importance
16 the profession. Over the vears. a relatively high percent-
age (1.7 pereent) of graduates of Earlham College. a four-
vearliberal ants college in Richmond. Indiana. have become
lihrarians. a vercentage about six times the national average
for undergraduates. Evan Farber conducted a survey of the
Farlham graduates who became librarians to determine why
they made their decisions to pursue training for the profes-
sion. The mostinfluential factors were “experience using the
librarv at Eartham™ and “relationship with a professional
librarian at Earlham.™ 1t is useful to be reminded of the
connection between Earlham's high recruitment into the
profession and the factthatis library staff have been leaders
in developing bibliographic instruction for students and in
prometing integration of the library into the undergraduate
curricutum.

EHen Altman and Patricia Promis investigated the extent to
which equal opportunity and affirmative action guidelines

have atfected recruitment and promotion for the groups

covered by those regulations to management positions in
academic libraries. The study concluded that the gender and
cthnicity of the candidates finally selected for management
positions strongly resembled those or their predecessors. The
study found that culturally diverse candidates received equal
opportunityv: thev were hired in proportion to their represen-
tation in the applicant pool. There is no statistical evidence,

however. that they received affirmative action.

Anne Woodsworth, Theresa Maylone, and Myron Svwak
examined whether the converging functions of computing
centers and libraries in research universities affected job
classification and compensation systems. The results ot the
study indicated that. when job descriptions ot cach group are
translated into uniform terms. the correlations between
library and computing jobs are strong cnough 1o merit
considering a single “information job™ family in classitica-
tion systems at organizations that are integrating informa-
tion technologies. By using this techinique, human resource
planners can develop a setof factors for job analvsis thatwill
articulate the overall information vision and values ol cach

institution, thereby stimulating organizational change.

Library and Information Science Faculty

Two teams of investigators surveved faculty who teach at

schools of library and information science.

Mary Biggs and Victor Biggs reported ona 1988-89 study of
full-time faculty ataccredited library schools that replicated
in methodology an American Council of Learned Societies’
(ACLS) 1985 survey of liberal arts faculty in seven social
sciences and humanities disciplines. The survey assembled
comparison data on the faculties” collegial research relation-
ships. publishing and other scholarlv and professional
activity. attitudes toward scholarly publishing. scholarly
and professional reading, usc of libraries. computer use and
skills. and overall job satisfaction. The hypothesis was that
library school faculty, as members of a “practicing” profes-
sion, would possess more sophisticated library-use skills but
would be less likely than the ACLS respondents to publish
productively or be active professionally as speakers. editors.
and referees. and that they would express more dissatisfac-
tion with their professional literawure and their jobs. This
hypothesis was not supported. As a group. library school
{acuhv reported equal or greater job satisfaction. collegial

research relationships, volume of publication and participa-

16




non in publicaton-related acuvities, satistaction with their
protessional lierature, and computer literacy than their
ACLS counterparts. The ACLS and Biggs studies are not
directly comparable because of the three years thatseparaied
them and ditferent methods of selecting <ubjects. However.
the Biggs studv reveals general productivity and job satistac-

non among library school faculty.

Fay Zipkowitz and Elizabeth Futas reported on a 1989-90
survey of library and information science faculty at U.S. and
Canadian mstitutions to determine the projected future need
for rey.acement faculty.  The impetus for the study came
[rom several factors: that students entering the tibrary field
tend 1o be older than students in other disciplines: that
librarv science taculty may have shorter academic careers
than other teaching faculty because typically they practice
librarnanship before teaching it that there is competition for
individuals waith Ph.D.s within other areas ot the protession:
and. finallv, that because of shrinking financial resources,
academic faculty generally have not been hired to replace
senior faculty.

The survey found that the average tull-time library science
facuhy memberwould be 55 vearsold in 1993, Sixty pereent
of faculty indicated. in response 1o a survey question, that
they expected 1o leave teaching betore retiring, Predictive
models were used by the rescarchers to conclude that there
will be a serious depletion of faculty in library schools before
the year 2001 and that immediate plans should be made 10

recruit. educate. and retain quatified new faculty.

ECONOMICS

n order to assure that the resources invested in
libraries and related information services are allo-
vated cffectively to maximize the benetits to society
in areas of pressing social need. the Council has been
addressing projects that focus attention on the costs and
benetits of specitie library services. The results from such
projects should lead to a more systematic decision-making
process regarding allocation of funding and cost sharing. An
important component in the cconomics program is the
cmphasis on a towal quality management or continuous

improvement thrust within the library community.

The cconomics studies completed or initdated this vear
tended to tocus on microcconomic issues. addressing such
ﬁ)pics‘ as serial pricing, journal use. interlibrary loan. and
public librarv tinancing. Inaddition. the Council continucd
1o encourage the application to library services ot continu-
ous yuality techniques. a practice borrowed trom thie busi-
ness community.  Support and encouragement tor 1he
development of functional tools for libraries to use to
determine their own costs and benefits was also included in
this rcar’s cconomics program. The William and Flora
Hewlett Foundation has provided most of the resources for

Council activities in the program area of economics.

Serial Pricing

Co-investigators George A. Chressanthis, Associate Profes-
sor of Fconomics. and June D. Chressanthis. Assistant
Professor und Serials Cataloger, Mississippi State Univensity.,
prepared several papers and presentations related to an
cconometric analysis of the determinants of library sub-
scription prices of the top-ranked economics journals. The
rescarch data also generated information on the relationship
between manuscrint submission fees and journal quality. the
cffect of exchange rate risk on librarv subscriptions. and
publisher monopoly power and third-degree price discrimi-
nation. The significance of the Chressanthis’ research is in
their comprehensive data set and solid methodology within
a specific discipline. Similar studies could be conducted for
other disciplines.
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Journal Use

As serial prices continue to rise. decisions to cancel specitic
titles must take inta account the use of individual serial titles
by library clicntele. Marifran Bustion and John L. Eltinge
reported on the relationships among departmental ratings
and subscription costs, the academic discipline and depart-
mental ratings, and the academic discipline and subscription
costs. While higher-rated periodicals had higher mean and
median prices. the investigators concluded that the relation-

ship hetween cost and relative price increases is complex.

Along with John Harer, they also examined the merits of

direct observation of periodical usage. Maiken Naylor
compared two methodologies for counting current periodi-

cal use and identitied the limitations of cach method.

Major joumal use studies are currently being conducted by
Columbia Universitv: the State University of New York
campuses at Albany, Binghamton. Buttalo. and Stony Brook:
and the Triangle Research Libraries Network as part of their
strategic planning grant activities (see description beginning
on page 21). As part of the larger project. the Research
Foundation of the State University of New York was funded
1o study the non-participation factor of a journal use survev
at the Science and Engineering Library at SUNY-Buffalo.
Results from all projects are expected by late fall 1993.

Interlibrary Loan Costs

The Council provided panial support fora project to examine
the costs 1o research libranes of interlibrary loan (ILL}
services. Data collection was completed for seventy-six
librartes on the tvpical costs of 1LL transactions. based on a
survev instrument developed by the Research Libraries
Group {RLG} and distributed by the Association of Research
Libraries (ARL) 1o collect cost information for 1991 interli-
brary lean borrowing and lending operations. The repont
was preparcd by Marilyn M. Roche, Research Librarics
Group. The data show that a rescarch library spends an
average of $18.62 10 borrow a document/article or to
purchase a photacopy of the item for a patron, and $10.93
10 tend a document to another librarv. Staff costs represent
ahout 77 percent of the cost for borrowing or lending. The
results of the study should help libraries better assess the
economics of their own borrowing and lending practices,
evaluate altemative methods of providing these services,

and analyze the impact of local senals cancellations.

The Council is also providing supporn for the travel, commu-
nication, and office expenses of the ARL Visiting Program
Officer. Marv Jackson, to address an ARL initative 1o
improve interlibrary loan and document delivery services.
The resufts of the ARL/RLG interlibrarv loan study point to
a necd for an ideal interlibrary loan system as proposed in
a white paper prepared by Ms. Jackson and Shirley Baker
(Dean of University Libraries. Washington University) for
the ARL Committee on Access 10 Information Resources.
During her tenure with ARL, Ms. Jackson will follow up on
the recommendations in the white paper and will work with
libraries and ILL/document delivery svstem designers to
move toward a more comprchensive and integrated svstem
for interlibrary loan and document delivery.

Public Library Financing

A seminar examining the results of a study on public library
{inancing conducted for the U.S. Department of Education.
Office of Library Programs, was supported by a 1992 CLR
grant 1o the Urban Libraries Council. Two publications
resulted: Keeping the BookS summarizes the rescarch and
study on exemplary public library financial practices sup-
ported by a Title I-B grant and provided some of the
background mazterial for the seminar. while Balancing the
BookS is based on the papers and discussions of the seminar
itself.

Costs and Beneficial Impacts of Library Operations

Libraries today must make planning allocations concerning,
both new and old modes of access to information. Included
in the decision process are factors such as timeliness.
thoroughness. convenience, accuracy, and precision. The
decisions themselves require knowledge of the expected
impact and the expected costs of each course of action. The
Council funded a proposal from Rutgers University 1o
develop useful tools to measure the costs. classify the
benefits. and measure the benefits of diverse library func-
tions. The project’s objectives are 10 adapt functional cost
analvsis to all tvpes of library functions and services. 1o
develop a taxonomy to classify library beneficial impacts,
and to develop a metrology (measurement science) for
ineasuring benefits as described by the taxonomy. The
preject investigators will develop techniques and a method-
ology that will be assembled into a manual. which will

subsequently enable other libraries 1o use the measurements




that are defined trom the project or 1o define their own. as
appropriate,

Total Quality Management (TOM)

In an article in the Journal of Library Adminisiration,
Council president W, David Penniman called for the devel-
opmentofa Malcolm Bal Irige award for the library commu-
nitv.  He argued that an award would encourage the
development ol total quality management practices in
librarics,

The Council cosponsored with the Special Libraries Associa-
tion (SLA}a series afworkshops on “The Quality Imperative.”
A total of 226 participants attended the workshops, which
were offered in six locatons, Course evaluations rated (he
vorkshop overall as “verv good to exceltent.” The workshop
was also used as part ol a three-dav conterence on total
quality held in Los Angeles in carly 1993, It was used aiso
asthe basis to develop a course on benchmarking, a topic the
Council sees as a critical component in the effective iniple-
mentation of TQM. 7Total quality management principles
have taken hold in the academic comniunity as well, and
several universities have begun quality improvement pro-
grams that involve the library.

INFRASTRUCTURE

he Council’s inirastructure program arca is in-

tended to establish continuing communication

and cooperation among the various information

systems and services that support our librarics
and to assure that economnic. sociopolitical. technical. and
legal changes do not inhibit library functions or access to
information by individuals and groups. The Council is
interested in finding those key pressure points where we can
help strengthen the information infrastructure.

Infrastructure is an umbrella term for the systems, services.
and facilities that are drawn upon to help libraries and other
information scrvices operate more efficiently and cffec-
tively. Under this umbrella we include communication
networks, bibliographic utilities, software and hardware
vendor communities, and publishers. In addition, we con-

sider current physicai structures (i.e.. buildings) essemial 10

the delivery of information and an important component of

infrastructure. This program arca deals with the people.
policies, and politics of cooperation and coliaboration.

NATIONAL ENGINEERING [NFORMATION INTIATIVE
Background

Last year's annual report described the birth of a national
initiative 10 solve a generally recognized problem with
engincering informatior and data: the extremely complex
nature ol access 1o the store of engineering expertise and
how this complexity inhibits the nation’s ability 1o compete
in the international industrial arena. Improving access to
technical information resources at the national level will
yield a significant return on investment and. at the same
time. improve our competitive stance.

The June 1992 conference cosponsored by the Council on
Library Resources and the Engineering Foundation (with
supplemental support from the AT&T Foundation and the
National Science Foundation) resulted in an integrated
action plan to improve access 10 engineering information in
libraries and specialized information services in the United
States. The Council's report of the conference proceedings.
Exploration of a National Engineering information Service.
was published in December 1992,

Arailable for $50 from Media Senvices Printing. B10 MVR Hull,
Cornell Umrersuy, Ithaca. NY 11853,

13

—




20

Ihis etion tas since become known as the Nationar Lngi-
neermy ntormation Initiadve (NEH)L The Counci s funce-
tioning as ihe prime mover o maintain the proeress ot tie
NEN towara the realization o a national engineering infor-

mation nerw ark, The NEIwork is proceeding in accordance

~with the onginal integrated action plan presented in fast

VAr's annuai report,

The Commuttee for Establishment of GENESIS (The CEG)

The top-down component of the integrated action plan
valled for the commissioning of a high-level panel to be
knownas GENESIS. which will provide the conceptualization.

strategic direction. planning. design. administration. sanc-

tion. and oversight required to promote the development of

a national engincenng information network.  Phe Council
has coordinated the formation and operotion ot the CLG,

witich has stucceeded in developine:

a charter for the GENESIS Group:

a staffing plan for GENESIS, including organizational
clements. functions. an estimate ot statt costs. position
descriptions. and identification of potential canardates
for the defined positions: and

a definition of potential alternative roles for GENESIS

in pursuing the integrated action plarn.

Tasks remaining for the CEG include finding a home base for
GENESIS. seeking a tunding base for GENESIS. and initiat-
ing GENESIS operations.

Funding the NEII Integrated Action Plan

The Council is carrving forth an aggressive program to
acquire funding for the NEIL action plan. Still pending are

proposals 1o:

¢ tund several specific clements of the overall action plan.
the Engincering Information Proficiency Initiative. the
GENESIS Group Initiative. and the initiative to encour-
age self-funded pilot projects:

e tund the entire NEH action plan for the first three vears:
and

¢ fund i segment of the overall users study assessing the
usage and needs of the users of chemical engineering
information and data.

nder acvelopment and soon 10 ne submitieg are proposals to:

¢ fund anotier segment of the user audience made up oi
cndineers and their supporting stati'directiv imvolved i

the munutactaring process in anv or sl industries:

¢ fund a provram o experiment with severai universities
o improve engincering curricula in the area of engi-

neering information managementand appiication:and

¢ fund a prototvpe model of the NEII 10 be developed
jointly by the Council and the National Instutute tor

Science and Technology.

In addition to these Funding initatives. the Council is
involved with engineering socicties. corporations. and o -
ernmient agencies engaged in the development of the na-
tional data highwav and high-performance compuund ini-

tiatives,

Corperate Sector Support

e Council intends to approach a variety ot major U.S.
corporations {or financial support in the form of interim
funding to maintain the initial momentum for the NEH until
longer-term funding materializes.  The approach will in-
volve mailing a hrochure and cover letter 1o a large number

of corporations that would benelit from a national system.

Computer Discussion Group

With the cooperation ot the Coalition tor Netveorked Intor-
mation (CNHL a list server was established that is available 1o
all interested individuals and groups who wish to exchanee
information and ideas.  To subscribe to this list, send
clectronic mail to listserv@cni.org with the message: sub-
scribe neli <vour naime> and vou will be added to the

discussion group.

NEll Focus Group Sessions

In order to interest and involve a wider audience in NEI
activities, locus group sessions will be conducted with
engineers in government. universities. and industrv. The
focus groups will explore with the engineers the tvpes of
barriers encountered in performing evervday engineering
tasks with an eve to discovering the importance of improv-
ing access to both intemal and external engineering infor-
mation and data. A sccond outcome of the focus groups wil!

be to provide additional dircetion to our planned research
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mto the needs of enemeers tor & nanonat :rformation
nenwork, one of the specific initiatives of the NEIL action

pian.

Serming Lisrary Povicies axp Priorimics . RESCARCH
UNIVERSITIES

A special grant program for studvine future nunagement
and service issues in research institutions and their libraries
and for developing strategic plans to deal with those issuces
was announced in the spring of 1990. The grant program
was developed in response to the work of the Council’s
Rescarch Librarv Committee. which had been considering
issues related 1o the transtormation of the waching and
learning information base by integrated information ech-
nologics such as computers, telecommunications. and text
storage systems, he comnutree reeovnized that 1 was not
clear hos tibranes and taculties wouid respond to mereasing,
cleetrome information and the unbounded. untimited access
called for by these new technologies, 1t was also unclear o
the committee if universities and their libraries would be able
10 embrace this new digital environment productively or it

they would be engulfed by i

The “Statement {rom the Research Library Commitice™ (May
1990) concluded that universities would need o undertake
a fundamental rethinking ot library and information service
objectives and. indeed. to consider a redelinition of the role
of the research library.  Several policy questions were
identified: the Couneil’s 1990 annual report includes those
questions and subsequent reconmendaations by the Research

Libran Commincee.

The grant program encouraged tiversities 1o begin 1o
address policy questions through a planning process. ft did
not prescribe how the process should be organized. or which
of the questions should be given priority. The program did
recommend the active participation ot faculty. adnunistra-

tion, and the library staff,

Four grants were awarded. and the projects began in 1991,
Al are nearing completion and final reporis are expected in
late 1993, but it should be noted that m all cases the process
of plahning will be continuing. Grant recipients uniformly
report that taajor benetits from this program have been the
establishment of a process for planning, the engagement of

university facultv and administration in that process. a

reconceptualization about how the institution can respond
i0 the changing environment, and the development of teols

to support data-driven decision making.

Columbia University

Data collectien and analysis have been completed for the
study and survey of library use and users in three science
depariments—hiology, physics. and clectrical engineering,
The costs of interlibrary borrowing and document delivery
were compared with that of ownership, and results confirm
that. if cost is the only consideration. it is less expensive
cither 10 purchase articles in lesser-used journals or 1o
request them through interlibrary loan thanitis to buy those
journals in anticipation of need. However. cost is not the
onlv consideration. Related studies of unbound periodical
use show that browsing new periodicals is an importani
source ol information for the librarv’s users. Columbia’s
project tean: also found that users of electronic information
resources nuike use of a wider range of information than
those who do not usc clectronic services such as online
databases or CD-ROM. Users in the sciences also preter
policies that tend toward the ownership ot journals and
clectronic indexes, but this view could change if clectronic
browsing and document delivery services were developed to
become more than substitutes. Columbia also found that, as
with most academic libraries, the effect of inflation on the
acquisition of science periodicals has been detrimental 1o
their budget. As part of their project, the Columbia study
team also visited libraries at six insntutions—=ATET Bell
Laboratortes, Carnegice Mellon Universitv, Cornel! Univer-
sity. BM (Yorktown). the University ot Pennsvivama. and
Yale Universitv—to identify different models forintormation
delivery that could be incomporated into Columbia's existing
clectronic intrastructure.

The documemarion and detail of the studies and surveys no
only provide a valuable base for future planning by Colum-
bia University Libraries. but also present useful models tor
replication by institutions that expect 1o take on similar

projects.

Harvard University

For Harvard University. the strategic planning grant coin-
cided with a signiticant period of change in the Harvard

College Library.  In addressing the need 1o respond 1o
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changing technol2gy, economics, scholarship. and teaching
within a research mstitution. Harvard tound that a key 10
suceess was an initial emphasis on vision and a continuing
focus on organizational development. Their vision state-
ment presents a future scenario based not on the current
organization. but on the role and function of the Harvard
College Library ten vears hence. Supplementing the vision
is a statement of values that expresses the nature of the
organization Harvard wished to create. A §taffand Organi-
zational Development Taskforce was charged with dcﬁnjng

the strategy to address organizational chahgc.
N )
The most important goal included in the Harvard College

Library strategic plan was the retrospective conversion and
adkiition 1o HOLLIS. their online catalog, ofi)re-1976 catalog
records. Five million records will be converted to machine-
readable form in the next six years in one of the largest
projects of its kind. and the records will be added to the GCLC
and RLG/RLIN databases. This project also helps to address
the critical space problems tacing Harvard by ensuring more
cffective management of the materiats transferred to the
Harvard Depository.

Harvard also plans to share information about organiza-
tional change and revitalization with the larger library
community. Invitational symposia are scheduled in late
1993 to address the changing role of the tibrary in leaming,
teaching, and rescarch, while the process of planning within
Harvard College Library continues.

State University of New York Univer-‘ty Center Libraries

Juilding on a strong foundation of interinstitutional col-
laboration. the SUNY Center libraries have been developing
multilevel committee structures for planning and policy
seuing related to an integrated acquisitions plan for four
institutions within the statewide system. The libraries
recognized that policies needed o be based on relevant data:
they conducted a journal overlap study. a current journal
titles use study. an interlibrary loan survey, and a faculty
clectronic access survey.  In addition o gathering the
necessary data on which to base currentand future decisions,
the studies and surveys also helped to increase communica-
tion, raisc awareness, and enlist the cooperation of the

communitics served by the four libraries.

The studies demonstrated that an unexpectedly high number

of unique journal tites exist in the four collections: a

signilicant number ot journal titles at each campus can be
considered low-use titles: an acceptable fill rate tor interli-
brary loan is possible through the use of the combined
collections: and the primary obstacles to electronic informa-
tion access for faculty lie in a lack of knowledge of what is

available, coupled with a need for training.

The goal of the grant. to develop the policies and plans for
implementation of an active program of cooperative collec-
tion development and resource sharing among the SUNY
University Center libraries. has been achieved. lts success
will be validated by the continuing cooperative policy
development process and the engagement of the libraries’
statfs, administrators. and facultics.

TRIANGLE RESEARCH LiBRARIES NETWORK

Duke University. University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill,
and North Carolina Srate University have also heen conduct-
ing usersurveys and studies to gather dataon their cotlective
collection strengths.  Included in the data is a statistical
profile of faculty. graduate students, and grant funding in
each of the science and engincering departments of the three
universities. The statistics show a high geographic concen-

tration of science and engineering graduate education.

A large-scale survey of all faculty and a large sample of the
graduate students in scicnce and engineering departments of
the three rescarch universitics was conducted in the spring
of 1992. The study was modeled on a similar survey
corducted by the librarians at Columnbia University. The data
complement findings from Columbia and SUNY regarding
After careful
analysis of the data, the research team is now exploring some

the use of materials and library services.

kev policy questions with focus groups on cach campus.

In addition to the original proposal to examine cooperative
collection development and access for materials and clece-
tronic media for the science community. an uncxpected
result from the planning process has been the development
and drafiing of a proposed new model university policy
suggesting that faculty retention of copyright for the articles
they publish inscholarly journals is a necessary precondition
for strengthening exisiing or developing alternative low-
cost mechanisms for the dissemination of research results.
The draft policy has heen widely disseminated and discussed
at meetings of librarians, publishers, and academic faculty.

RESTCOPY AVAILABL
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Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

Stanaards

The Nationai information Standards Organization (NISO)
completed work during the year on durable hardcover
bindings for nooks. Council-supported work continues to
develop additional NISQ technical standards for the preser-

vation and conservation of librarv materials.

Scholarly Communication

The Council parually supported a conference organized by
the Geuy Art History Information Program and the Ameri-
can Council of Learned Societies in the fall of 199210 address
the implications of electronic information for scholarship in
the humanities. Papers by Oleg Grabar. Institute for Ad-
vanced Study. Princeton University; Carolvn Lougee. Stanford
Universitv: Richard Lanham. University of California. Los
Angeles: Wiliiam Y. Arms, Carnegic Mellon Universitv: and
Lawrence Dower. Harvard University. provided the invited
droup ot schoiars. administrators, librarians. technologists.
and leaders of national institutions and learned societies
with information about how current trends in information
technology wiil affect the humanities. A summary of the
proceedings includes excerpts from the keynote address by
Vartan Gregorian, President. Brown University, along with
summarics of the discussion papers. findings from the
working groups. and comments and conclusions from the
conference organizers. The participants developed recom-
mendations, including the initiation of a national collabo-
rative effort for the humanities. promotion of the creation of
a national “digital” library, development of model collabo-
rative projects. support for training, promotion of'an under-
standing ol the role that information technology ciin play in
research and teaching, and establishment of descriptive
standards for primary materials.

In a similar vein. a one-day seminar in April 1993 was held
at the College of William and Mary 1o explore the topic of
schotarly humanities communication in the electronic age.
Scholars. librarians, and the public were invited to share
informatien un current projects and to discuss the trends
affecting the wayv people use technology 1o create, retrieve,
and manipulate information. Kevnote speakers alternated
with case studies and provided an atmosphere of interactive
leaming during the seminar. which was partially supported
by the Counail.

5

Institutional Collaboration

To investigate how librarians can work with computer
scientists and university faculty in a collaborative setting
demonstrating o virtual library concept. the Council has
awarded a grant to Rice University for parial support of a
project to develop materials for an undergraduate course on
science ir, carly modem Europe within the universitv's
electronic studio project. The project will incomorate an
advanced technology. the Virtual Notebook System (VNS).
which is a distributed multimedia hvpertext system. The
clectronic studio is analogous to an architect’s studio. where
a drafting table and storage cabinet serve as a permanent
work place and repository for tools. design projects. and
personal possessions.  Materials collected by librarians.
faculty. and students in fully developed electronic studios
will include notes. assignments. documents. images. video.
and sound.  Roles and responsibitities of the librarians.,
taculty members, and computer scientists. as well as the
management and utilization of technologies, will be as-
sessed as part of the project.

Network Advisory Committee

The Council continues to provide modest support 1o the
Network Advisorv Committee (NAC). Membership in the
Network Advisory Commiuee is composed of U.S. organiza-
tions formally constituted and functioning in the public and
private (for-profit or not-for-profit) sectors that are actively
engaged inregional or nationwide networking of library and
information services. or have a significant impact on the
development of nationwide networks providing library and
information scrvices.

The December 1992 meeting explored the topic of *Multime-
dia and Networking.” Guest speakers included Dr. Roben
Heterick. President of EDUCOM: Howard Besser. Canadian
Center for Architecture; William Harless, Time Associates.
Lid.: David Bearman. Archives and Museum Informatics:
John Clement, EDUCOM: and Carl Fleischhauer. Library of
Congress.  Meeting participants saw demonstrations of
multimedia for different communities (education, scientific,
musecum, ctc.) at the National Demonstration Laboratory for
Interactive Information Technology at the Library of Con-
gress. A panel presentation on the implications of multime-
dia for the information community concluded the meeting,.
The proceedings will be published as Library of Congress
Network Planning aper no. 24.
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TheJune 1993 meetine was devoted to an exproration ot the

cducational requirements for informanon protessionals from
the perspective of national networking initianves. NMembers
ot ALISE (Associaton tor Library and Informanon Scienee
l:ducation) participated in the meeting, Speakers from both
the Network Advisory Committee and ALISE provided
overviews of the roles of networkers and ot fibrary and
informanon science programs. Topics included overviews of
cach organization. updaies on current nationai legislation.
issues ficing higher education. the changing curriculum,
distanee learning, and continuing education. The proceed-

gy witl also be published as a network plunning paper.

Network Planning Paper No. 23, "The Role o1 State Library
Adeneies in the Evolving National Informanon Network.”
based on the April 1992 NAC meeting. was published and
distributed in 1993,

Communmity Networking

It is expected that within the next few yvears. electronic
communications and multimedia informanon resources will
be delivered 1o communities and homes across the country.
What impact these services will have on libraries and
mdividuals is the subject of an initial cvaluation ot the
Blacksburg Electronic Village Project. The project is a joint
effort ol the Virginia Polvtechnic Institute and State Univer-
sitv, the Town of Blackshurg, and C&P Telephone/Bell
Atlantic Company. Over the next three vears. high-speed
data connections and Internet access will be brought 1o
homes. schools, dibraries. and businesses in the community
of Blacksburg. The Fleetronie Village Project is serving as a
prototvpe tor bringing interactive librarv resources io people
in the community, The initial evaluation, funded by CLR.
will dauge the impact of new electronic information services
on libraries and individuals; determine which information
services have the greatest value o users by looking at
pricing, billing, and other delivery issucs: assess the user
mtertace and other technical aspects of the information
services: and refine evaluation methods and techniques in
order to make improvements belore a subsequent full-scale

evaluation of the project.

Libraries and Technology

The historical attitudes of librarans ioward technological
devices and the role of innovations in shaping the develop-

ment of library processes and services is chronicled ina new

monogsaph by Klaus Musmann. dlis sunves ot the profes-
<ional lerawure documents aspects of the link between
society and the fibranv. He found that librarians have been
semarkhably wiiting to expeniment with new iechnologtes

and adapt them to library acnvities.

International Activities

The Council's internanonal activities this vear were coneen-
trated onsuppon for the nternational Federation of Library
Associations and Institutions ([FLA). Fur ded by the Council
in 1989 and administered by IFLA. the Robert Vosper [FLA
Fetlows Program awarded fellowships ona competitive basis
to outstanding librarians with an interest in and a commit-
ment to the international aspects of library service.  The
nrogram was named aiter Robert Vosper. Honorary Fellow
ot fFLAL and o tormer CER Board member (now Dircctor
L.meritus). The purpose on the teltowstiips was to enable
ihrarians with the potential for leadership and internatonal
involvement to deveiop this potential by working on an
activity linked with the development and operation of one

ot IFLA"s Core Programmes.

A total of twelve fellowships were awarded during the four-
vear program. and topics addressed by the Vosper Fellows
covered the broad range of IFLA interests: preservation.
bibliographic control. interlending and document supply.
library education. and technology. Project reports are being
published by the IFLA Core Programmes. The 1989 class
members were: Mark Roosa (University of Delaware, USA):
Aare Walckiers (Uriversité de Louvain, Brussels. Belgiumi:
and Johanna Wellhieiser {(Metropolitan Toronto Reterence
Librarv. Toromo. Canadal. Members ot the 1990 class were:
Frangoise Bourdon (Bibliotheque Nationale. Paris. France)
and Jav Lambrecht {University of Hlinois at Chicago). The
1991 class included Michele Cloonan (University of Califor-
nia, Los Angeles); Barbara Stefaniak (Instiwute for Scientific.
Technical and Economic Information, Warsaw, Poland): and
Titia van der Werf (RABIN, The Hague, Netherlands). The
class 011992 included Georgeta Clinea (Biblioteca Nationala
a Romaniei. Bucharest, Romania): Craig Ross lairley (Met-
ropolitan Toronto Reference Librarv., Toronto. Ontario.
Canadal: Llda-Monica Guerrero (Centro de Investigacion s
Docencia Economicas, Mexicol: and Wendy Smith (National

Librarv of Australia, Canberra. Australial.
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SHAPING A FOUNDATION FOR THE FUTURE

hese are unsettled times {or libraries. Pushed

by the breakneck advance of the information

society. they arc being forced to redefine

their place in our universities and cities. A
changing economy is driving them to examinc whether
structures they developed in the industrial age are
appropriate for a new era. Shifting social values are
moving them to explore new ways of serving their
communities. New technologies are revotutionizing the
way scholars and ordinary citizens find and use infor-
mation. but are also compelling libraries to reassess their
place in a sociery beguiled by the meteoric growth of the
information business.

This is also a time ol unrelenting financial strain.
Academic and research libraries face growing pressure
1o install expensive new clectronic networks and data-
bases at the same time that the cost of traditional
publications is rising—all while their parent institutions
struggle through increasingly perilous financial straits.
Many publiclibraries have been forced 1o close branches,
lay off staff, and slash their acquisitions budgets.

AsKichard De Gennaro. thelibrarian of Harvard College,
puts it, “The challenge we're facing right now is we have
1o maintain the traditional library. because that's where
most of the action is. and while we're doing that we have
1o cope with new technology and the growing variety of
research resources, and we have 1o do both of these
things at a time when the total resources available to us
arc diminishing, in an environment that is resistant to
the drastic changes we need to make to survive.”

These are daunting tasks. To be sure, librarics over the
years have been cnormously resourceful in adapting
new technology and new ways of thinking to their work:
despite limited funds, they have learned how to share
isolated resources. ease public access to their collections.
This,
though, is an cra of unaccustomed change and of

streamline their management, and cut costs.

bewildering financial choices. Even for libraries that are
at home with innovation, the challenges ahead are
staggering.

That is where the Council on Library Resources comes
in. Since 1956, the Council has been a central player
in the evolution of the librarv world. It has boistered
the training of skillful and imaginative library admin-
istrators. stimulated the development of new technolo-
gies for preserving materials and disseminating knowl-
cdge. focused attention on the nuts and holts of
management and library cconomics, funded pionecr-
ing efforts to improve communication among libraries
and to transform scholarship. and encouraged revolu-
tionary gains in users’ access to information. For the
better part of four decades the Council has been an aily.
adviser. and catalyst for change among libraries. With
librarics moving toward so uncertain a future, it is not
surprising that the Council is needed to play those roles
with renewed vigor.

Doing so is especially important just now. when the
social consensus that once supported libraries appears
tobeunraveling. This country has been turning its back
onitslibraries. Cities have slashed their library budgets.
The federat government has proposed severing its
support. Universities not only have cut funding for
their own libraries. but have taken aim at the future of
libraries by closing their tibrary schocls. Foundations
have turned their attention to other problems.

Libraries are not. of course. uniquely burdened: there
are few public institutions that haven't found them-
selves in similar straits during the last few vears. But
ignoring the health of libraries is a bit like ignoring the
health of schools: it can help the bottom line intheshort
term, but it exacts a great cost down the road. That is
because. like schools, libraries hold the keys to the
future. As former President Jimmy Carter told the
American Library Association’s 1993 convention. “The
best single focal point of lcaming on a continuing
basis...[is] the libraries of the United States.”

As most citizens seem to grasp intuitively, libraries are
among the few institutions that remain bulwarks in this
day and age against the degradation of public space.
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Academic libraries, in the face of growing budget
pressure on universitics to foster proprietary research
owned by its funders. have remained dedicated to the
notion that the profit-making potential of knowledge is
irrelevant to whether or not it shnuld be collected or
made available. Public libraries have struggled to
remain accessible to anyone and evervone who needs
information or seeks knowledge.

Why is that access important? The reason is simple:
libraries supply the necessary tools and knowledge 10
those who would solve society's problems. and they do
so regardless of the problem’s size or who wants to solve
it. They hold the books that help unemployed laborers
retrain themselves. they keep the statistics that buttress
arguments at city council meetings, they undergird
researchers trving to cure cancer or stop a tuberculosis
epidemic. A library i< not an institution that stands
apart from the universiry that houses it or the city that
supports it; libraries are part of those communities’
warp and weft. their assurance that they can always
refine and enrich themselves.

“Libraries are called into being by people who have
need of them. They don'tinitiate themselves,” says Dr.
William N. Hubbard. Jr. {(a former president of Upjohn
Company and member of the Board of Regents of the
National Library of Medicine. and a member of the CLR
hoard of directors). “It's a fool's errand to deal with
libraries as if they were institutions that hung, like
Mohammed's coftin, hetween heaven and carth.” Ina
very real sense, unless libraries can sort through the
particular challenges that face them. it is hard to
imagine that society will be able to address with any
contidence the problems that confront it as a whole.

The William £t Flora Hewlett Foundation. in its 1977
annual report, found another way of saying the same
thing. Explaining its funding choices—which currently
include the Council—the foundation argued that “mak-
ing ours an cffective democratic society. a_society
whose institutions work, is essential to human welfare
not only in the United States but throughout the world.”
Simply put, itis the Council’s job to ensure that libraries
are institutions that work.

‘Though the Council is an operating foundation. which
means that it can initiate projects as well as make grants
to others, it has never had enough money to solve
libraries’ problems on its own. or even to fund entirely
others' etforts to do so. Rather. it has wisely laid down
the seed capital for projects designed to help
librarianship mature. It has always recognized that the
big issues facing the field are in fact made up of smaller
fragments. and that progress entails finding and tack-
ling the pieces that will advance the whole.

ltis uniquely equipped to do so. Itis, for one thing, smali
in size and able to act quickly when needed—as. for
example. when a national effort to send English-
language books 10 students and universities in China
shortlv after the Tiananmen Square uprising was in
danger of faltering when its funding for publicity
suddeniy fell through: within a week. the Council had
mustered the needed money.

While the Council has coordinated large and complex
projects. it is also able to pay attention to the small
projects—the research papers. travel expenses. and con-
ferences—that tend to get lost in larger funding organi-
zations. lts ability to focus on the details of librarianship
has made it the vehicle of choice for funders interested
in nurturing libraries and scholarship.

Just as important. it is independent of any particular
institution, a virrue that has given the Council a number
of strengths. 1t is able to steer its resources 1o projects
that. even when carried out by a single institution. will
henetit libraries as a whole. Because it is independent.
it can be a neutral broker and mediator. able to convene
organizations and advisers to address issues that cross
And its
standing within the ficld draws atention to the prob-
lems it identifies—the Council's sponsorship of projects

institutional lines or arouse controversy.

in the past has invariably given them wider notice and
the credibility to marshal additional support. Thatis due
in part to the character of the Council’'s board of
directors. which includes not only members of the library
profession. but distinguished academics and researchers
who represent the public’s interest in libraries.
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All of this has given the Council an outsized impact for
an organization of its scale. "If you ask any number of
people about the half dozen most important events in
librarianship, without exception you will find the Coun-
cil in back of them,” says William Crowe. who is dean
of the University of Kansas Librarizs. “You'll find the
Council there in the shadows, on the sidelines, cheering
people on, providing them a stipend or getting sorne-
thing published or tunding a meeting. They make it
possible for other people’s ideas to come to the fore.
They're a midwife.”

As academic, research, and public libraries start coming
to terms with the demands of the rapidly changing
environments in which they work. an organization like
the Council would have to be invented ifitdidnt already
exist. As Richard De Gennaro wrote a few years back.
“Atthe beginning of'this era. our field was characterized
hy stability and continuity. Now it is characterized by
change, discontinuity, and opportunity.” In that some-
what chaotic atmosphere, someone has to stand behind
the pathfinders. equipping them. urging them on. and
making sure the results of their work have the impact
they deserve. That is the Council’s role.

It has been so since the beginning. In some ways, the
Council was bom into an environment much like the
current one. The mid-1950s were a time of enormous
ferment for librarians. It was becoming abundantly
clear that new technologies—and especially the com-
puter—were rewriting their traditional ways of doing
business. Scientific and technical advances. and the
competition with the Soviets, were bringing new scru-
tiny to the entire American educational system and to
libraries’ place within it. The leading edge of the Baby
Boom was approaching its early teens; clearly, within a
decade college and university libraries would be facing
unprecedented demands on their resources.

It was in that atmosphere that Louis Wright. director of
the Folger Shakespeare Library in Washington, D.C,,
was asked by the Ford Foundation to convene two
meetings in early 1955. Ford was interested in
improving libraries overall and in the role the com-

puter would play within them. It also wanted to find

some way of escaping a growing shower of library-
related funding requests. Fortheir part, Wright and the
extraordinary collection of leading librarians, archi-
vists, historians, and academics that he convened were
interested both in where libraries were headed in
general and in the particulars of how they were to get
there.

There are not many accounts of those gatherings in the
wood-paneled stillness of the Folger Library. What
exists is written in the stilted, colorless language of
conference minutes. But it is clear that the discussion
was wide-ranging and, reading between the lines,
occasionally heated: they talked about such issues as
cooperation among libraries, the problems of college
and smaller public libraries, how to assess the promise
of computers and microfilm. and how to promote
greater access to libraries” collections. The one notion
that seemed to draw universal support was thc need for
a national commission of some sort to coordinate
efforts to find the answers to those questions.

Not surprisingly, then, that is what emerged. The
Council came into existence in September 1956 as a
tully funded project of the Ford Foundation; it contin-
ued to draw most of its funding from Ford unul 1977.
Its first president was Vemer Clapp, until then the chief
assistant Librarian of Congress. Its charge was expan-
sive: “To aid in the solution of library problems.”

In the decades since then. the Council has had four
presidents. Clapp. a widely read, congenial man of
extraordinary enthusiasm, became perhaps theleading
force for change in the library world during his tenure.
Fred Cole, a historian and university president, was
more muted but no less influential than Clapp—
"Because he was a master at working through others,”
commented one eulogist after his death, “his trail is
more often than not blazed only by his shadow.”
Warren J. Haas, the former director of libraries at the
University of Pennsylvania and then vice president
and university librarian of Columbia University, was a
driving force, both hefore he arrived at the Council and
after, for upgrading the professional standards of
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librarianship. Since 1991, W. David Penniman, a
former vice president of the OCLC Online Computer
Library Center and former director of the Information
Services Group at AT&T Bell Laboratories. has led the
Council.

Because each leader put his own imprinton the Council,
itis tempting to tell its story chronologically. But more
than most institutions. foundations are judged by how
they respond to the needs they encounter in their
chosen world. In the Council's case, its story is
inextricable from the evolving challenges facing the
country’s libraries—especially the academic and re-
search libraries on which it has focused much of its
attention.

[fthereisasingle theme that characterizes theevolution
of libraries over the last few decades. it has been the
pressure to knit scattered resources into a web linking
one library to another, and all into a whole. Libraries
arose. in asense, as islands of information, each with its
own cataloging systems and procedures. Left to their
own devices they would undoubtedly, like island cul-
tures everywhere, have developed exotic languages
understandable only to themselves. That might have
been fineifeach library in the country Lad all the books.
journals. manuscripts. and tapes ever created. but they
don't. In a society that relies as heavily as ours on
information. sharing it has been an imperative: that, in
turn. has depended on libraries leamning to communi-
cate with one another.

From its beginnings the Council has pondered how to
make it possible for libraries separated by physical
distance nonetheless to share knowledge: indexes of
manuscript collections. say, or cataloging information
on books to be published, or a database maintained by
one library but available to many. Some of the projects
it funded along those lines were the best the technology
of the time could offer. One of its first grants, for
instance. went to the compilers ofan updated Union List
of Serials. an immense, five-volume cataiog detailing
the serials—some of them dating back to the eighteenth
century—held by 956 libraries in the U.S. and Canada.

It was a prodigiously ambitious undertaking that.
thanks also in great mcasure to the Council. was on its
way to being outmoded by the time it was published in
1965.

For the Council also realized early on that the future
of libraries lay with the computer. both as a labor-
saving device and. ultimately. as a means of sharing
information. It is no exaggeration to say that anyone
who sits down at a terminal today to ferret out material
on a particular subject—for a school paper or a biomedi-
cal research program or a neighborhood economic
development project—is using the fruit of seeds sown by
the Council.

A perfect example is MEDLARS. It is a computer-based
information service maintained by the National Librarv
of Medicine {(NLM) that not only gives its users access
1o an immense array of data on medical research and
published articles. but can provide a patient with lists of,
say. cancer specialists in any city or region in the
country or give emergency workers details of the toxic
effects of a particular chemical spill. It is the largest
library-based information system in the country. a
cornerstone of both medical research and practice, and
its roots lie in a grant the Council made in 1958 to the
NLM to plan for the automation of its main biblio-
graphicservice. Without that pivotal early step. says Dr.
Martin Cummings. who was for two decades the NLM's
director and now sits on the Council's board. MEDLARS
would not have followed. "People think of thisas a great
big governmentinvention.” hesays. "But the factis. the
Library couldn't have started on it without that little
grant from the Council.”

Seed money for other projects has affected not just
particular library programs. but the entire library world.
Over the years, the Council has funded work to develop
national and international automation standards and
cataloging rules, made it possible for work to begin on
a worldwide system for the organized exchange of
hibliographic information. and helped create a comnre-
hensive, computerized database of serial publications—
no small feat, since journals and magazines. unlike
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books. often change names and publishers over the
course of their history.

Probably no set of Council projects has had greater
impact on American libraries than its grants to the
Library of Congress: taken as a whole, they have
helped that institution shoulder the central role it plays
taday. saving the country’s libraries hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars cach year in cataloging costs. The
Council helped the Library automate its services. funded
its work on developing a national database of serial
publications. and supported its efforts over the years to
develop the Cataloging in Publication Program, which
allows cataloging information to be included in books
as they are published.

One of the Council's most significant sets ot grants was
10 the Librarv's Machine-Readable Cataloging (MARC)
program. which was a crucial step—if not the crucial
step—in the develonment of a national database of
cataloging records. lts goal was to make it easy and
inexpensive for libraries around the country to auto-
mate their procedures by acquiring basic cataloging
information about books—details such as their titles.
publishers. and authors, as welt as the subjects they
covered—{rom a central source.

Before MARC's developmentduring the 1960s. libraries
cither created their own catalog record for each item
that came in. or depended on huge prepared catalogs of
card images that they transcribed for their own system
or copicd and used directly. There were two problems
with this approach: it was cumbersome and time-
consuming; and it meant that as libraries automated.
each had to develop its own computer format for
keeping track of its holdings, which was fine for
individual libraries but meant a programming night-
mare once they started trying to share information.

Through a series of grants from the Councilduring the
1960s. however, the Library ot Congress was able to
start building a system that would, in essence. give
libraries a common language for cataloging. It
launched the full-scale MARC service in 1969. allowing
libraries to slash their costs by cutting the amount of

original cataloging that had to be done and providing
them with the raw data to produce their own catalog
cards and book catalogs. Just as important. with its
introduction of a common computer language for
libraries. MARC made it possible for the first time to
envision a nationwide system for keeping track of their
holdings.

It might help to pause a moment here to put these
developments in perspective. It's easy to see why
computerizing their procedures was a good thing for
libraries: it saved time, money, and effort. What is
crucial to understand, though, is how enormously vital
it has also been to ordinary library users.

The reason is that information is useless unless you can
get to it. That. in turn, means keeping it on hand and
knowing how to find it. Anything that helps librarians
store or retrieve information. in other words, gives
ordinary citizens better access to it. By setting a
national bibliographic system as a goal—and more
importantly. by funding the unglamorous steps. such as
MARGC. needed to make it a reality—the Council was in
essence trying to make it possible foranvone, anywhere
in the country. to find out which resources could meet
their needs and how to lay their hands on them.

Still. it took some time, and a concerted effort. to make
that goal a reality. The project that made it possible was
theBibliographic Service Development Program (BSDP).
which many librarians rank among the niost impornant
of the Council’s ventures.

At its heart, the problemn the BSDP had to resolve was
not technical, but political. With the development of
the MARC format, in the late 1960s and early 1970s a
number of regional library netwnrks sprang up to
provide bibliographic services to their members. Where
once only the Library of Congress had provided catalog
cards to subscribers around the country, suddenly there
was a host of organizations—the Qhio College Library
Center. the Southeastern Library Network, the New
England Library Network and others—using MARC to
create not only catalog cards. but a range of services
including, most importantly, online access to hiblio-
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graphic information. Each organization had been born
to meet a particular regional neced. so there was no
guiding hand behind the activity—although the Council
did its best to play a coordinating role by providing
funding and advice tor projects that might resolve
general problems of network development.

Over time. the Ohio group (1 ow the OCLC Online
Computer Library Center) and a consortium of the
country’s research libraries. known as the Rescarch
Libraries Group (RLG). came to dominate the field. each
possessing enormous databases of bibliographic records.
The two large groups competed intensely for members.
with the result that libraries connected with one or the
other often refused to cooperate with their rival's
subscribers. While the «bility to tic together every one
ot the country’s research and academic libraries existed
in theory. in practice it was a thomy diplomatic
problem.

Launched by the Council in 1978. the BSDP became
the neutral ground on which the competing organi-
zations could meet and hammer out ways to link up
their databases. lts importance to research can be
gauged in part by the list of funders that supported it.
something of a Wha's Who of organizations active in
the library field at the time: the National Endowment
for the Humanities. the Carnegie Corporation. the
Commonwealth Fund. the Ford Foundation. the Will-
iam and Flora Hewlett Foundation. the Lilly Endow-
ment. the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation. and the
Alfred P. Sloan Foundation.

the program was cnormous in its scope. pursuing nine
separate arcas of endeavor and calling on the talents
not just of research librarians. but of computer and
communications specialists and of senjor academicand
industry officials. It established sets of standards not
just for bibliographic records kept by the different
systems. but for communicating among them. It
focused on improving the bibliographic databases
themselves by helping to computerize records held only
on microfilm and microfiche and to develop a plan for
converting records that could be found only on paper.
It set up a project to {ind ways of linking the databases

10 each otherand of making the links seamless to users.
And. perhaps most important. it explored the range of
services that researchers, scholars. scientists. students,
and others would need in order to make full use of the
available databases. The result was an online system
that allows a user. from a single terminal. to search the
major bibliographic databases in the country.

Since those databases contain information on most
resources held by this country’s libraries. it is now
possible for anyone with access to a terminal to find
almost every piece of cataloged material held some-
where in a library. He or she can delve into the New
York Public Library's resources on the economics of
inner-city hospitals. for instance, or piece together the
historv of attempts to regulate bank redlining from
around the country. or find the musings of scientists
worldwide on extraterrestrial biology. Small wonder
thatany number of librarians consider the BSDP. in the
words of one, “the greatest library development in this
century.”

As important as improving access to this country’s
library collections has been. though. it is only one side
of the coin. The otheris building and maintaining those
collections in the first place. The Council has never had
enough money to help individual libraries acquire
materials. butit has routinely funded projects to resolve
problems faced by all them. It helped the American
Library Association (ALA) set up the Library Technot-
ogy Project. which developed new products not avail-
able from commercial sources and helps libraries judge
those products that are. It provided the seed moncy for
one ofthe tools most used by college libraries in guiding
the development of their collections. the ALA monthly
Choice. which provides short scholarly evaluations of
books as they appear. And over the years it has helped
ALA study the insurance requirements of libraries.
survey the strengths and weaknesses of public library
systems. and study the financing of online services run
by pubtic libraries.
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One of the Council’s key ventures has been its
sponsorship over the decades ofa large-scale effort to
preserve printed material or its intellectual content—
an undertaking that is in no small part responsible for
the widespread recognition that our knowledge base
needs to be protected. 1t was not always so: when the
Council first formed. only a handful of people paid
much regard to the notion that the country was in
danger of allowing its collected wisdom to crumble into
dust. One of them. fortunately, was Vemer Clapp.

The creation of the Council was, in some ways, a
godsend for Clapp in this regard. since it gave him a
vehicle for seeing to it that preservation work got under
way. Although the Ford Foundation was interested
primarily in issues relating to automation. Clapp argued
forcefully that as important as computers might be to
libraries. so. too. were paper. binders. ink. and. in
particular, the ability to preserve images on microfilm.
He set the Council on a course of promoting both the
technology of preserving the human record and the
urgency of doing so.

Over its first few decades, the Council had far more
success with the first task than with the second. It
funded the research of pioneering preservationist Wil-
liam J. Barrow. who demonstrated that it was acid in the
paperused for manufacturing books since the mid- 19th
century—and not environmental pollution. as was
popularly believed at the time—that was the prime
culprit in its deterioration. The Council also helped
Barrow set up a laboratory that developed standards of
paper durability and investigated methods both of
deacidifying paper and of manufacturing acid-free
paper. It helped the Library of Congress establish its
Preservation Research Laboratory, funded the first
regional conservation center (in New England). under-
wrote studies of particular technical problems and
guides for conservators. and subsidized the develop-
ment of microform technology as the most promising

avenue for safeguarding the intellectual content of
deteriorating pablications.

By the late 1970s, in short, people concerned with
preservation knew what had to be done. Making it

happen was another matter. For a variety of reasons.
publishers hesitated to adopt acid-free paper, and paper
manufacturers were slow to make it. Library directors
had their minds on other problems. The people who in
the end would have to fund preservation work—univer-
sity administrators, foundation executives. and the
like—seemed unaware of the problem. As much as 80
percent of the collections of the country's premier
libraries—basically, anything printed after 1865—was
in danger of falling to pieces.

It was around this time that Warren J. Haas took over
as the Council's third president. Haas had seen the
effects of deterioration on research collections first-
hand. and once at the Council’s helm he used the
position as a bully pulpit to preach the cause. "If
individuals have any sense of the importance of the
continuity of the human experience, they can't avoid
the problem of preservation of the human record,” he
said in Slow Fires, a 1987 fiim that aired on public
television and that the Council funded in an effort to
build a national constituency forattacking the problem.
“To fail to do so is, in a sense, to turn your back on
history.”

During the 1980s, Haas and the Council made sure no
backs remained tumed forlong. They mustered a broad
cross section of the library, university, and foundation
communities on behalf of preservation efforts. They
brought about the creation of a committee on book
longevity t¢ make recommendations on how to pro-
duce longer-lasting printed materials. They encour-
aged the creation of a modem standard for acid-free
paper. in 1981 they helped establish a preservation task
force as part of a joint project of the Council and the
Association of American Universities. They spurred the
creation of a mid-Atlantic microfilming facility dedi-
cated to quality preservation and eventually, in 1986,
set up a national commission to deal with the problem.
Initially funded, staffed. and organized by the Council.
the Commission on Preservation and Access became a
separate nonprofit organization in 1988. Preservation
had finally come of age.
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In the end, if maintaining and ensuring access to
collections are pieces of the same puzzle, then someone
has to be able to put them together. For this reason. the
Council has worked from the beginning to help
research and academic libraries develop their opera-
tions and management strengths.

Its etforts on this score have fallen into three broad
groupings: professional development, management is-
sues, and strategic planning. In 1968, the Council
began its first fellowship program. designed to give
librarians a chance to pursue independent projects
aimed at exploring administrative and technical fron-
tiers; the program lasted more than a decade, and
funded 199 fellowships in all.

Two other Council programs have been influential. Its
Academic Library Management Intern Program. begun
in 1974. gave librarians with the potential to become
leaders in the field a chance to spend a year working
with colleagues at the top of the profession. Only a few
interns were chosen each year. and many of this
country's research and academic library directors have
passed through the program on the way to their current
positions. In 1981, the Council also funded a program
at the University of California, Los Angeles, to give
specialized training to recently appoint2ed senior man-
agers of major library systems: there have been ninety-
seven such senior fellows through 1993.

The Council’s focus on management began with a 1969
grant to the Association of Research Libraries (ARL) for
a Booz. Allen & Hamilton study of management
practices i university libraries. Thatin turn led to one
of the longer-lasting and more influential develop-
ments in the field, the creation in 1970 of the Office of
University Library Management Studies (now the Of-
fice of Management Services. or OMS) within ARL.

Until then. there had been no agency dedicated to
helping research libraries develop as organizations or to
giving them the tools for moving into a new period of
focused delivery of information services. With consis-
tent funding from the Council for its first decade, OMS
has created prog ¥ms to analyze management struc-
tures, collection. services, and preservation planning;

it has designed training programs for key library staff;
and it has looked for pioneering programs—dealing
with anything from marketing library services to ap-
praising library performance—and described them in
kits designed to help otherlibraries innovate. With help
from the Council. ARL has also built an initiative to
apply the findings and benefits of OMS programs to
smaller college and university libraries.

Throughout the last few decades, the Council has also
been investing small sums of money in studies to
understand better the microeconomics of library
services a.id to develop methods for libraries to mea-
sure their performance. [t has funded studies of the
costs of computerization and microfilming, the feasi-
bility of public libraries providing books by mail.
formulas for library administrators to use in projecting
future growth. methods for auditing the finances of
university libraries. the costs of decision support sys-
tems, savings from copy cataloging, the costs of online
catalogs, methods of strategic planning and budgeting,
the actual costs and benefits involved in interlibrary
loan programs....The list goes on.

As useful to the profession as all these projects and
studies have been in the past, it is becoming clear that
theirreal value may lie down the road, in the foundation
they've laid for a far more ambitious set of manage-
ment-related efforts. For if libraries are to survive.
much iess prosper. in a hard-edged economy. they must
pay close attention to what their operations cost and
whether they can be better structured. In essence, they
will have to build an economic case for their existence
and ther: redesign themselves to buttress it.

Building on the work it has sponsored in the past, the
Council has convened a study group on the
microeconomics of library operations, supported the
development of a set of seminars for librarians on the
precepts of total quality manszement, and funded
strategic planning programs 1t four universities and
university systerus designed tc look at the particulars of
library operations and how they fit into their larger
institutional aims. At Rutgers University, it is funding
a project to analyze the economic benefits provided by
research libraries to their parent institutions.
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The detailed management information those projects
should provide is only a beginning, though. For while
the last few decades’ work has given libraries an
increasingly sophisticated set of tools with which to
carrv out their missions, it could not give them detailed
blueprints for meeting the needs of a society that is
changing as rapidly as ours. In every area with which
the Council concerns itself—improving information
processing and access, developing libraries” infrastruc-
ture, understanding library cconomics and manage-
ment, and strengthening their human resources—li-
braries stand on the threshold of daunting, but
potentially exhilarating, change. If they are to be
institutions that work—if academic libraries are to
serve universities and research institutions. and
public libraries are to help their communities grow
and regenerate themselves—then there are frontiers
that must be explored without delay.

While those frontiers may differ somewhat for aca-
demic and public libraries. they involve the same
forces: the challenges and opportunities posed by new
technology, and the changing needs and wants of the
communities served. How libraries of all sorts come to
grips with the pressures they are facing will have
profound implications for their management. their
structures, and their personnel.

Itishecoming clear to academicand research librarians.
forinstance. that new information and telecommuni-
cations technology is not only changing how libraries
operate, but may also transform their place within
their parent institutions. Research on that front is stilt
voung, but three ventures underwritten in part by the
Council highlight the potential.

At Rice University. the Council is funding a project
uniting librarians. computer scientists, and faculty
members 1o develop undergraduate courses using
hvpertext multimedia. The aim is in part to familiarize
students with the technology, but it will also undoubt-
edly change the way classes arc taught. involving
librarians up front in their design.

The Council is also underwriting an effort to create a
national cngineering library that will exist only in

virtual form. At the moment. the information that
engineers need to call on is widely scattered—in formal
published literature. in government technical reports.
in the trade literature and reports on ongoing pro-ects.
and in catalogs and manuals of standards. There is no
efficient way for an engineer siiting down to plan a
project or build a manufacturing process to find it all.
The current venture is designed to buiid a “library” out
of those various pieces and tic them together in an
easily accessible network. An engineer who sits down
at a terminal will be able to obtain whatever informa-
tion he or she needs. whether it comes from the data
banks of a commercial publisher or a professional
society or an dctual library.

in another effort that has extraordinary potential for
both librarians and academics. the Council is working
with librarians and researchers exploring a concept
known as "knowledge management” that in the last
few years has begun to tantalize the profession. The
need for a new information model has been evident
within the scientific research community foryears. The
amount of time required to publish resuits in print has
made prompt communication hard for >cientists and
scholars. And while scientists trying to cope with the
problem have created discipline-based knowledge net-
works, they have done so in a chaotic manner. often
working on their own with no general standards to

“guide them: scholarly communication is. as a result.,

quicker. but not necessarily any more cfficient. The
idea of knowledge management is that it will play a
coordinating and integrating role—much as, in an
earlier and simpler manner, MARC set the standard for
sharing information among libraries.

Some initial work on this score was begun a few years
ag) at Johns Hopkins University’s Welch Medical
Library in a Council-supported effort to transform a
printed volume on human genetics into an electronic
knowledge base that is accessible to—and can be
updated by—geneticists worldwide. Working in con-
junction with that ongoing venture, the library at the
University of California at San Francisco has launched
an effort to provide its researchers and physicians with
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online access to journal articles as they are published.
and to collaborative and peer-review networks.

As compelling as such projects are. though, they raise
as many questions as they answer. The advent of
sophisticated communications technologies means that
new financial relationships among libraries. publishers.
online networks, and the vendors of services and
equipment will have to be erected in a manner that
makes economic sense for them all. Libraries and
publishers still have to work out who owns information
and how, in an age when data arrives in a constant

stream. it is to be maintained and upgraded for library
users.

And thatis only thetip of the iceberg. Foracademicand
rescarch librarians themselves there are a host of
nettlesome puzzles. The rising cost of publications and
of collecting electronic data has made it evident that no
single library can hope to own everything: resources
will have to be shared. But who holds what, how it's
made available, and how it's paid for remain uncertain.
For that matter, the sheer growth in the availability of
knowledge and the speed with which it is being
produced are challenging libraries” ability to handle itall.

As they make more use of innovative technology.
academic and research libraries are also finding that
meeting their users’ needs is growing more compli-
cated. Not only do scholars in the humanities work
differently from those in the sciences. but some find the
pace of change in the tools available for research deeply
unsettling, while others chafe at libraries’ deliberation
in adopting them. As libraries find themselves pressed
to reallocate scarce funding to new resources, they are
having trouble maintaining their acquisition of books
and periodicals, and so arc drawing the anger of their
more tradition-minded users. If they are to meet their
users’ neceds. in other words. libraries will clearly have
tolaunch a concerted effort to study them more closely.

Nor are academic librarics alone in facing change: so
are the librarians who help them function. There is
mounting pressure on them to be specialists in their

respective academic fields. which in tumis requiring an

entirely new way of looking at the training required for
information professionals. The problem is that some of
the leading library schools in the country have either
been shut down recently or are threatened with closure.
making it unclear how that challenge will be met.
Acadernic librarians now face the problem of promot-
ing libraries’ cause not just within their parent institu-
tions, but within the scholarly world as a whole.

For public libraries, adapting to the changing needs
of the communities they serve and to the growth of
the information society is proving equaily disruptive.
Public libraries have been forced to decide how to
respond to towns and cities grappling with demo-
graphic change. cuitural diversity, changing families.
shifting economies and job markets. a fraying social
order. stressed neighborhoods. and decaying infra-
structure. Over the last few vears. many libraries have
moved to tackle those issues head-on. working with
community groups to explore what specific informa-
tion they need to do their jobs. or establishing adult
literacy programs, after-school reading programs for
laichkey children, and reading kits for new mothers.

As crucial as those efforis are, though, they rane
unfamiliar dilemmas for librarians. Limited resources
mean that for every new program that is developed. a
traditional library function tends to suffer. Librarians
steeped in the practice of collection development are
not accustomed to becoming community outreach
workers overnight. Politicians used to thinking of
libraries as a safely innocuous service don't always take
it kindly when they become agents of community
change.

Library directors trying to push their institutions in new
directions are groping their way through all of these
developments with no models to follow. few precepts to
guide them, and a host of questions that nced to be
cnswered. If, forinstance, they are to serve a culturally
diverse clientele, do they have enough understanding
of the cultures their clients represent to provide them
with adequate service? And if libraries can play « role
in advancing literacy and {urthering economic devel-
opment how can they do so without threatening their
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ability to deliver the materials that people want?
Answering those questions will entail not just learmning
more about public libraries™ users and their needs and
wants. but leamming which vardsticks to use in measur-
ing success: is it the size of a collection that counts. or
the savings to society of making sure that an illiterate
child does not grow up to become an illiterate adult?

As with academic and research libraries. new technol-
ogy is bringing benefits and dilemmas in equal mea-
sure. On the one hand. it is making libraries more
accessible to people they have never been able to reach
in the past. and is giving library patrons a chance to do
research that would be impossible otherwise. On the
other hand. the managerial questions raised by technol-
ogy are no easier than those raised by community
responsibility. Technology costs money. but it public
libraries start charging a fee for such services. what will
be the impact on their historic role of providing free.
equal access to information? What should the library’s
role be in avoiding a community separated into those
who can afford information and those who cannot? As

libraries develop networks that link them to each other.

should thev invest local tax dollars in developing
databases that might eventually become available to
anyone in the state. or even the country?

As Eleanor Jo {Joey) Rodger, director of the Urban
Librares Council. puts it. "It's not that technology spells
the doom of the public library. it's that we need to
understand the core of the business we're in as a
publicly funded distribution system. identify the factors
that affect the distribution system in the private and
public sectors. and figure out how to ensure public
funding forthat chunk of it thatisin the publicinterest.”

These are questions with which. until recently. the
Council probably would not have concemed itself;
historically. it has focused much of its attention on
academic and research libraries, believing that it could
make its greatest contribution by helping them develop
aninfrastructure of knowledge that wouid then hecome
fieely accessible to all. But that is no longer cnough.

The urgency of addressing the issues facing libraries
of all sorts and the potendal that technology brings
for linking public to academic libraries create a need
for an organization that can serve the library field as
a whole. That is what the Council has set out to do.

In helping libraries tame these frontiers, the Council will
be relying on the experience it has acquired over the
decades since its beginning. It knows how to identify
promising projects and lend its authority to make sure
they get the attention they deserve. It is practiced at
seeking path-breaking work that can point the way for
the bulk of the library community to follow. It
understands how to bring libraries and funders to-
gether, and how to articulate areas of concem that
others. with greater resources, can address. And it has
gained the wisdom to ensure that the work it funds
illuminates the needs that libraries themselves must
address if they are to strengthen their contributions to
the people they serve.

All of the hard questions posed to libraries by the new
information order and by the social changes they must
grapple with are also opportunities. Libraries have the
potential to become gateways to the vast information
resources that this country needs to move forward with
confidence; more than any other institution in society.
they are equipped to make them available to the largest
possible audience. In the end. just as the Council itself
is a catalyst for progress among libraries. so it can help
libraries to be catalysts in their tumn. assisting current
and future generations of citizens in becoming inde-
pendent problem solvers with the knowledge and the
information they need to overcome any challenge.




1956

1957

1959

—— COUNCIL ON LIBRARY RESOURCES
SELECTED CHRONOLOGY OF PROJECTS

Ford Foundation establishes the Council

First of many grants to American Library Associa-
tion to establish and support the Library Technol-
ogy Project. a continuing program of research,
testing, and standardization of library materials
and equipment

First of many grants to William J. Barrow and the
Barrow Laboratory for investigations relating to
the preservation of books and pen ranence of hook
papers: eventually determined causes of paper
deterioration and developed permanent/durable
book papers

G:ant to National Library of Medicine to mecha-
ni.e Crrrent List of Medical Literature (inder
Lfedicus), which resulted in MEDLARS

First of several grants to Library of Congress to
create National Union Catalog of Manuscript Col-
lections

First of several grants made over a 35-ycar period
to the Library of Congress to investigate the feasi-
bility of, develop, implement, and subsequently
evaluate the Cataloging in Publication Program

First of several grants for preparation of the third
and final edition of Union List of Serials in Libraries
of the United States and Canada. supplemented by
New Serial Titles

1960

1961

1964

1965

1966

Grant to International Federation of Library
Associations and Institutions {IFLA) for interna-
tional conference on cataloging ihat resulted in the
“Paris Principles,” an agreement on uniformity of
practice

With the National Science Foundation, CLR begins
long-term support of American National Stzn-
dards Institute {ANSI) Committee Z39 on Library
Work, Documentation. and Related Publishing
Practices. which develops standards for practices
and methods in the ficld of library work, in the
preparation and utiiization of documeints. and in
those aspecis of publishing that affect library
methods and use

Grant to the American Library Association to
launch Cheice, a monthly book-selection service
for academic and public librarics

Publication of CLR-funded report on possibilitics
for automation at the Library of Congress

Grant to the Library of Congress to facilitate the
establishment of the National Register of Micro-
Jorm Masters

Funding provided for &« machine-readable catalog-
ing (MARC) feasibility study and for catalog data
studies to create specific procedures required for
the distribution products

Grant to cnable Richard Smith to develop a non-
aqueous deacidification method for paper preser-
vation
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1967

1968

1969

1970

Grants to the New England Board of Higher Edu-
cation to explore the application of MARC tapes tor
library cooperation: followed by a 1971 grant to
study feasibility of transferring the Ohio Coliege
Library Center (OCLC) system to other groups of
libraries

Books for College Libraries (ALA) is published with
CLR suppont

Anglo-American Cataloging Rules is published
with CLR suppornt

Beginning of CiR Fellowship Program. which
provided research opportunities for librariaus for
over a decade: followed by Faculty/Librarian Co-
operative Research Program. which continues to
the present

Project MARC (later MARC Distribution Service),
funded by CLR. begins the sale of magnetic tapes
containing cataloging information in a standard
format, including all English-language monographs
cataloged by the Library of Congress

CLR and the National Endowment for the Humani-
ties begin ten-year College Library Program. de-
signed 1o bring the library into a central role in the
cducation of undergraduates

First of several grants by CLR and the U.S. Office of
Education to help OCLC develop its computerized
regional library system

Association of Research Libraries™ Office of Man-
agement Services (OMS) is established with CLR
funding

1971

1972

1973

International Federation of Library Associations
and Institutions (IFLA). with support from CLR
through 1981, cstablishes permanent secretariat
for its Committee on Cataloging, which servesas a
center for intemational coordination and stan-
dardization of cataloging rules: also establishes
international system for organized exchange of
bibliographical information in staindard format

IFLA strengthens its neadquarters secretariat with
support from CLR: ongoing suppon enabies [FLA
to become the most effective vehicle of interma-
tional library cooperation

International Standard Serial Number (ISSN} de-
veloped from U.S. standard for serial numbering
developed by CLR-supported ANSICommittee Z39:
CLR staffworted for its implementation in the U.S.
and internationally

CLR and the National Endowment for the Humani-
ties provide funding for BALLOTS (ultimately the
Research Libraries Information Network) to assist
in bringing this automated bibliographic control
system to operational status

Grant to Washington Librarvy Network (WLN) 1o
continue deveiopment of its statewide computer-
ized library network for regional sharing of re-
sources

New England Document Conservation Center(later
Northeast DCC) established with CLR funding
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1974

1978

1980

1982

CLR assumes initial management and funding role
in CONSER (Conversion of Serials} program. cstab-
lished in order to create a comprehensive biblio-
graphic database of serials in machine-readable
form

CLR gives consultative support and grant (o
SOLINET. a new regional library nciwork

CLR Academic Library Management Intern Pro-
gram begins; 55 interns participate through 1993

Anglo-American Cataloguing Rules. 2nd edition,
published with CLR support

Beginning of Bibliographic Service Development
Program (BSDP}, a multi-year program with the
goals of improving bibliographic products. con-
trolling costs of technical processes in individual
libraries. and improving access to information by
all users

CLR {BSDP) begins funding the Linked Authority
Systems Project (later Linked Systems Project) to
establish requirements and develop specifications
for hardware and software required for telecom-
munications and machine interchange of records

among bibliographic nerworks and the Library of

Congress

CLR (BSDP) begins efforts to coordinate evaluation
of online public access catalogs in order to produce
comparative data on cxisting systems and guide
future online catalog development

CLR (BSDP) supports investigation and develop-
ment of a thesaurus for art and architecture, which
hecomes a model tool

CLR (BSDP) provides grant to Rutgers University
for the construction of an international inventory
of machine-readable texts in the humanities

1983 Parial support for Associztion of American Pub-
lishers project to develop industrywide standards
for preparing and processing electronic manu-
scripts

Partial support for the CONSER Abstracting ¢t
Indexing Coverage Project, marnaged by the Asso-
ciation of Research Libraries and based at the
Library of Congress, to enhance serial biblio-
graphic records

CLR creates the Committee on the Records of
Government. which identified issues and recom-
mended solutions for government records man-
agement. particularly for electronic information

1985 ANSI/NISO Z39 standard on permancent paper
published: supported by CLR grant

CLR providesinitial funding for Mid-Atlantic States
Cooperative Preservation Service (MAPS)

1986 Publication of Brittle Reooks. reporis of the CLR
Committce on Preservation and Access

CLR provides support for an international Confer-
ence on Preservation of Library Materials, which
launched the IFLA core program for Preservation
and Conservation

Commission on Preservation and Access is estab-
lished with CLR support: it becomes a separate
Organization in 1988

CLR publishes The Economics of Research Librar-
ies. which provides library managers with infor-
mation on using cost data for strategic planning,
budgeting. and forccasting
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1987

1588

1989

1990

1991

CLR. the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation. the Na-
tional Endowment for the Humanities. the Exxon
Education Foundation. and the Library of Congress
sponsor production of Slow Fires, a film calling for
increased awareness of the need o preserve the
human record

CLR -provides funds to establish an IFLA Fellows
program named after Robert Vosper, CLR Board
Member. which encourages interest in interna-
tional aspects of librarianship and gives visibility
and support to IFLA’s core programs

CLR hosts conterence and conducts studies for the
National Science Foundation to explore selected
aspects of scientific and engineering communica-
tion. resulting in publication of Communications in
Support of Science and Engineering

Support to Association of Research Libraries for
studies of serial pricing

CLR awards strategic plaaning and policy grants to
Columbia University. Harvard University. the Tri-
angle Research Libraries Network. and the State
University of New York Center Libraries

Grantto Urban Libraries Council for partial support
of invitational seminar on public library financial
practices: Balancing the Book$ is based on the
papers and discusstons. while Keeping the Book$
summarizes a U.S. Department of Education study
on exemplary public library financial practices

Support fora Strategic Visions Steering Committee
to explore issues related to the library professioniin
the electronic age and to draft vision and value
statements for discussion with the broader library
community

1992

1993

CLR and Engineering Foundation host confere.ce
to explore the potential for developing a plan to
improve the effective use of engineering informa-
tion and data: the repor. Exploration of a National
Engineering Informarion Service, is published

Association of College and Research Libraries’
College Library Director Mentor Program begins
with CLR support

With the Getty Art History Information Program.
the American Council of Learned Societies. the
Coalition for Networked Information. and the Re-
search Libraries Group, CLR cosponsors a confer-

ence on “Technology, Scholarship. and the Hu-
manities”

Grant to Rutgers University to develop and apply
tools and procedures for measuring costs and
benefits of diverse library functions

To investigate the role of the library in teaching
within 2 multimedia environment. CLR provides
partial support for a project at Rice University to
develop materials for an undergraduate course
within the university’s electronic studio project

CLR begins concerted effort to encourage a na-
tional engineering information initiative

Council on Library Resources
1400 16th Street. N.W., Suite 510
Washington. D.C. 20036
(202) 483-7474
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— ACCESS AND PROCESSING

he ramd inerease i the amount and avalability

ot information, the variety of means by which

“hat intormation can now be delivered. and the

voncomitant and increasing costs tor acyuiring
aid processimg imformation challenge the raditional pro-
cessing whd access activities ot libraries. The Council on
Libranv Resources has continually sought to improve the
methods by winch libraries acquire, organize. store, retrieve,
reproduce. and make available information for efficient use
I the communities they serve. That use may be to answer
yuestons. to solve problems, or tor an individual’s personal
ar professional deveiopment. The Council's current aceess
and provessing program seeks 1o create ongoing mecha-
msnis that ennance aceess to information by encouraging
anprovement m the mernal processes performed by our
tibrares so thar the resources mvested in libranes are used

more ctficientty and eifectivelv.,

[nformotion Search Process

System developers are continually trying to improve the
tols and processes that hetp library users obtain access to
the information they seek. In order to make improvements
in the tools, developers and managers need to xnow how
users are aerung their information now. the limitations that
existin carrent systenis, and what system features are most

wsetul o andividuals.

Aartha Andrews conducted astudy of the intormation needs
ot geotoesy and ecography eraduae studenis. sesearch
assocates, and faculty. Iraditienal sources such as conver-
sations with colleasues, references at the end ot anticles, and

personal collections are still their main information sources.

The meerdiscplinarny nature of librarv users” research inter-
ests was invesngated by Laura Bantolo and Timothy Smith,
lhey conmared the impaet of manual and online search
methods on the interdisciplinary search task in tenns of the
refevance of retrieved items, vser effont, user satisfaction,
user contidence, and future use. The results indicated that

onhine scarch methods are more effective than manual

searches when users are working outside their areas of

speciahization.

Ann Bishop is exploring how cngineers in the acrospace

mdustry uulize clectronic communications,  Preliminary

resuits suggest that networks are used widely tor both
internal and exrernal communications,  However, network
use Is cucrentiv limited by its inability o convey the
multitaceted informaton needed by engineers 1o address

complex problems,

Many users get rather poor results when searching CD-ROM
databasces. reported F.W. Lancaster and his colleagues trom
the University of Hlnois at Urbana-Champaign Graduate
School of Library and Information Science. Scarches per-
formed by faculty and graduate students were compared
both with searches conducted by an experienced education
librarian and with those conducted by ateam ot experienced
searchers. While the library users did find peninent items.
they did not find them all, nor did they find the best.

While Lancaster compared user scarches wath those of
experienced searchers, Gary Marchionm and his researen
weam examined the scarching behavior off protessional
scarch intermediaries and subject experts. The researchers
determined that the domain expents were content-driven
and used technical query terms based on their knowledde,
while the scarch expens were problem-driven and used
svstem features to refine their results. System designers will
need to take both types of users into account when making
improvements to their svstems.

Maxine Reneker's dissertation was a study of the informa-
lion-secking activities of thirty-one members of the Stantord
Urivensity academic community. Using a naturalistic ap-
proach, Reneker recorded the information needs they expe-
rienced. how they went about answenng them, the sources
of information they used. and theirievel of satisfaction with
the information.  The pieture that emerged trom the study
was that the individuals were active information seckers who
see their information environment in a positive light. They
seek information as a result of a need, and there is a dynamic
relationship between the environment, information sources,
and the articulation of a need.

Catholic University investigators Ingrid Hsieh-Yee and Tom
Marcum have been funded o study how taculty members
seek information and how they use an online svstem,  fhe
project objectives include determining how information-
seeking patterns are related to discipline, how online systems
facilitate faculty information secking, and how faculty use

the online system. Data on faculty members at four
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institutions sharing a common online svstem will be gath-
cred. and results are expected in 1994,

A study of the information-seeking process among a select
droup ol social scicnce and medical faculty researchers in the
ficld of population studices is being conducted by L. Terri
Singer. now at the University of South Florida. and Kennceth
11. Hill at Johns Hopkins University. This study iscomparing
researcher and librarian searches of the CD-ROM POPLINE.
a database on population and family planning. Results are
expected in late 1993.

Bibliographic Control

Begun in 1971, the Librarv of Congress™ Cataloging in
Publication (CIP} program provides prepublication catalog-
ing records for the hooks most likely to be acquired by
libraries. Findings from a survey of CIP heneficiaries were
prepared by SKP Associates and published in 1993 by the
{ibrary ol Congress. Libraries of all tvpes were surveyed:
librarians, publishers, and MARC tape recipients all agreed
that the program continues to be a valuable one. The Council
supported this survey of twogdecades of CIP and had
supported asimilarstudv conducted after CIP's firstien years
of operation. The Council was also instrumental in the
establishment of the CIP program. Resulis {rom the 1993
study indicated that the scope and quality of the data are
ahove average, and savings in cataloging costs for libraries
aresignificant. The challenge for the program in the coming
vear will be to demonstrate its ability to respond to the
diversity of CIP users and the demands of a changing
publishing environment.

How hest to catalog cooperatively continues to chatlenge the
library communitv. As technologics change and systems
improve, cataloging personnel and their managers must
adjust 1o new priorities and workflows. Each decade brings
different perspectives on how to share the burden of provid-
ing bibliographic descriptions and access 1o an increasing
number of new publications that appear cach year in an
increasing array of different formats. This year. a Coopera-
tive Cataloging Council was cstablished to develop a strate-
gic plan for cooperative cataloging among the nation’s
libraries. The effort came cut of a joint meeting of represen-
tatives from the National Coordinated Cataloging Program
and the CONSER Program. who saw the need for a model

program that would take the best from existing programs

and set the stage for a more cost-ctiective. participatory
process. A mission statement was prepared. goals were
establishied. and several task forces were formed to address
speciticissues. CLR provided support for a planning meeting
of the group in April 1992, and task forces are continuing
their work throughout the summer and fall ot 1993.

One of the new forms of publication for which access
mechanisms need to be developed is preprints. Katherine
Branch reported on a Yale University project to establish an
alternative electronic distribution system for mathematics
preprints that also included an exploration of how electronic
distribution affects use. Key findings included identification
of the technical barriers to access and assessment of some

sociological issues of scientific communication.

Henry Snvder and Heidi Hutchinson conducted a compara-
tive and analviical study of cataloging rules emploved in
Europe for an older form of publication. materials printed by
usc of'a hand press. This report was prepared for the working
group appointed by the organizers of the Munich 1990
Conterence on Retrospective Cataloging and Conversion in
Lurope.

Frangoise Bourdon, a Vosper Fellow. also looked at broader
cataloging issues by investigating name authority control at
the international level. Her study included an examination
of the existing document on name authority files and cight
automated files. She identified the problems encountered in
exchanging authority data at the intemational level and
recommended action by the appropriate national and inter-
national agencics.

The distribution ol responsibilitics for accessioning and
indexing arctic regions information is being investigated by
Martha Andrews through a grant to the University of
Colorado. Data have been collected to identify overlapping
coverage and absence of coverage of the arctic literature in
databases of the polar/cold regions area. A plan ofaction for
the providers of and contributors to the databases will be
detailed in order to rationalize the process of data gathering
and identification among interested institutions and ser-
vices. both nationally and intemationally.

Indexing overlap and consistency between art and architec-
ture indexes were examined by Angela Giral and Arlene
Taylor. Although 71 percent of the sample articles in two

secondary sources covering architecture and related infor-
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mation were from journals indexed in common. there were
numierous differences i artiele setection, title identification,
and access points. 1f collaboration between the two sourees
is desired, agreements on such issues as selection criteria,
description guidelines. and descriptor terminology will need

1o be reached.

Vocabularies and Thesauri

Laura Stalker supplied the minutes ot the first Conference on

Reconciliation of Form and Genre Terminology. partially

supported by CLR. which brought together representatives of

the major published vocabularies of form and genre terms.
Form terms (e.g.. diaries, directories, memoranda. question-
naires) designate specific kinds of materials distinguished by
physical character. subject. or order of information. Genre
terms tor textual materialks (e.g. biographices, essays, hvimns,
reviewst designate the sivle or technique ol the intellectual
content of textual materials. The conference was held w
develop a philosopty and a process for reconciling terms
representing form and genre from different controlied vo-

cabularies. In information retrieval systems. distinctions are

needed among materials themseives, representations of

thosc materials. and works about the marcriais. The confer-
ence panicipants reconciled almost thirty terms and estab-
lished a working procedure for discovering and reconciling
term conflicts,

A study to investigate the feasibility of creating a thesaurus
for engincering and scientific terms was conducted by Pat
Molholt. David Batty, and Cathy Whitehead. They examined
the 1967 Thesaurus of Engineering and Scientific Terms
(TEST) 10 determine what would be required to use that
vocabulary as the basis of a new thesaurus. Their conclusion
was that a new thesaurus is warranted, timely, and techni-
cally possible, and should be modcled on the Art and
Architecture Thesaurus (AAT).

The Music Librarv Association is also investigating the use
of the Art and Architecture Thesaurus (AAT] as a subjece-
specific model vocabulary. Harriette Hemmasi. investigat-
ing for Rutgers University. is creating a preliminary music
thesaurus utilizing the Anderson Rowley Information Sys-
tems (ARIS) software. The overall intent of the projectis w
increase access to the Library of Congress Subject Headings
{L.CSH} for music materials.

Marcia Bates continued her investigation of expanded
access vocabulary for the machine-readable Librane of
Congress Subject Headings (LCSH.

Preservation

Brittle books are a problem not only for large research and
national libraries: they also are found in college libraries.
Janet Genz. Charlotte Brown, Jane Becbe., Daria D'Aricnzo.
Floyvd Merritt, and Lynn Robinson investigated preservation
and collection management at liberal arts college libraries.
Theinvestigators conducted surveys in three college fibraries
using a typology methodology defined by Ross Atkinson to
determine materialsinneed of preservation. The results were
that significant numbers of brittle low-use volumes were
held in the libraries and some of the volumes were materialy

not widelv held. even by rescarch libraries.

Lois Olcott Price, Senior Conservator of the Conservation
Center tor Art and Historic Anifacts. is preparing a manu-
script on the fabrication and preservation of American
architectural drawings to 1930. The project’s objective is for
improved preservation and collection care for architectural
drawings and photo reproductions of them through a better
understanding of the materials and techniques used in their
fabrication. Publication is expected in carly 1994.

The United States Agricuttural Information Network (USAINE
is proposing a national program to preserve in the original
or in an archivally sound format—and to make readily
accessible to scholars, researchers. students, and scientists—
ihe most imponant pre-1950 published literature and the
primary unpublished resources that together document the
history of the agricultural sciences in the United States.
Land-grant institutions, the National Agricultural Library,
and other libraries. societies, and archives with imponant
historical collections will participate in the program. The
Council provided panial support for an Advisory Panel on
Preservation to consider how best to preserve the agricul-
tural science literature. The panel engaged Nancy Gwinn to
facilitate the planning process and to dratt a national
preservation plan.

Collection Development

In her final report to CLR on a study of access versus

ownership issues in five libraries. Sheila Intner concluded
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nat coltection aeveropment hbrarians are, tor the most part,
<till deepiv commuted to pereeiving necaed matenais prima-
dvin terris o printed books ad journas, and atempt o
‘he best of their ailities 10 buy them ail. e study
nopulation mcinded administrators ana coilection develop-
ment statf. Recognizing the limitations ot case studies and
changing environments. nmer noted that this obsenvation
cannot be generatized 10 the tull librane community but
supgests that these thoughts are echomg in oher places.
While somie study participants may agree 1hat the access
function of libraries will grow, others pointout that there witl
continae 1o be a need for some organization somewhere to
collect, organize, and mamntain recorded knowledge. Many
study participmus also do not believe that libraries have
cither the resources or the will to imiplement new echnolo-
ales that have the potential to improve aceess. Recommen-
ONS Tor the e sieps towiard anaceess versus ow nership

decisien-making model are provided.

Use or Technotogy

The use of technology to provide cost-cHective cataloging
training was explored by the National Agricuitural Library
inits development ot a hypertext tatorial for the deseriptive
cataloging of computer files. The experimental tool and
project were deseribed in an article by Sarah Thomas. The
evaluators were enthusiastic about the potential of such a
tool and recommended thiat other such experiments be

undenaken.

Virginia lHefel visited personnei in thineen institunons 1o
exanmune mnovative applications or technolosy to public
services in libraries. She developed sevenreen criteria 1o
examine the specific applications, and provided descriptions
ot cach ofthe projecis. Thereis apereeptionin the profession
that libraries require users to know or learn how libraries are
organized. so many ot these projects are trving to develop
systems that are casy for patrons 1o use. Their goals and
objectives include the pravision of information 1o users
reggardless of their location or the material’s Tormat. The
libraries have been proactive in the development of the
sstems in order to ensure their leadership in information
rechnologies and to establish their roles and responsibilities

within their organizations,

The Future Catalog

\n ongoineg research proiect that has been looking at how 1o
develop an oniine catalog searcn svstem that incomorates
ards tor clustering and oreanzing useful retrieval sets s
being conducted a1 the Compiner Science Departiment o
Indiana Univensitv of Pennsvivama, under the direction ot
Mary Micco.  The svstem takes advantage ot the data
included in a hibliographic record. wables of contents. and
expert svstem technology 1o improve subject access {or
catalog retrieval. The project has been developed in phases
increasing in complexity and scope. With each phase. the
feasibility ot the concept has been tested and limitations

imposed by sottware and hardware have been examined.

\n exploration into the library catalog ot the future is being
conducted for the Council by Charles Hildreth,  He s
investigating what torm the next eeneration catalee will
ke, which projects currenty heing conducted are porential
models for 1his new catalog, and what characteristics are
needed to transtorm the current static catalog into a dynamic

information access and delivery svsten.

The concept of the digital librarv or electronic information
center is heing activelv considered by many organizations.
In order 1o provide the necessary background information
lor developing, plans refated 1o the electronice library. the
Council has contracied with the University of Michigan's
School of Intormation and library Studics 1o conduct an

analvtical review of the literature on the future library.
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— PROGRAM GUIDELINES AND

GRANT APPLICATICN
PROCEDURES

he Council on Library Resources supports work
by individuals and organizations on nauers
pertinent to libraries and information services.
with a primary objective to improve their quality
and performance. Since the Council’s programs are broad
and its program descriptions general. there is continuing
refinemient and adjustment to the scope of projects tunded.
Individuals with specific interests and expertise are encour-
aged 1o take the nitative and propose for consideration
projects within the program areas deseribed in this report:
huntan resources, the econonties ol information senaces.,

iirastructure, and access and processing.

In addition t the general program grants, the Council
sponsors the CLR Fellows program and the Cooperative
Rescarch program. both of which encourage research projects
and the development of rescarch skills by individual profes-
sionals, The programs are described in brochures available
from CLR.

While CIR. in consultation with its advisors. often initiates
and promotes work in its program areas. exploratory corre-
spondence and conversation are always welcome, and all

proposais receive careful consideration.

Advice to Applicants

I'he miost efficient means 1o centact the Council is with a
letter or electronic communication. Initial inquiries should
state the purpose of the work. indicate methodology. estab-
lish the credentials of the responsible individuals. and
provide an estimate of the wotal costs and funding require-
ments. Enough information should be provided 1o enable
CLR staffto determine whether or not the inquiry falls within
the Council’s program interests. Letters of application will
be bricfly aicknowledged upon their receipt, but because CLR
prefers to operate with a small stafT. detailed responses may
take more tinwe, 1fsubstantive replies are not received within
a reasonable period of time, applicants should feel free to
make a follow-up inquiry. There are no subniission dead-
lines for general program grants, but the special programs

have announced deadlines.

If subsequent exploration scems justified. preparation ot a
complete proposal will be suggesied. Full documentation
should include:

1. A concise description of the proposed project.

2. A thorough explanation of the work 10 be done, includ-
ing project objectives and background information on
the need for the project.

3. Specific methodology to be used.
4. A timetable for the project.

5. A detailed budget linking costs to project components.

6. Plans for evaluation of the project and dissemination of’

project results.

7. Concise and perunent curricula vitae ol the principal

mvestieators.

Proposals are first reviewed by CLR statf and. when neces-
sary. external technical advisors. All proposals are consid-
ered for relevance to current CLR interests and activities:
relationship to other. similar work: projected costs in the
contextof'the work described: and importance of anticipated
results. The Council also looks for evidence of institutional
support. including cost sharing. Grant applications are
generally reviewed also by an external proposal review
committee. and proposals over $25.000 need approval from
the CLR Board of Directors, which meets twice a vear (Mav
and November). However, even proposals that are to be
recommended tor Board approval cannot in every case he
reviewed at the tirst meeting following their receipt. Al
inquiries and proposals are reported to the Board. including

those declined at the staff and review commitee level,

Exclusions

The Council does not provide support for construction.
renovation. or other capital improvements. Support is not
provided for collection acquisitions. routine operating costs.
activities judged 10 be of limited influence. or work that
essentially repeats previous research. CLR does not fund
indirect costs. Equipment purchases are also generally not

supported. unless integral to a research project.

Contact

Inquiries should be addressed to Julia C. Blixrud, Program
Officer, Council on Library Resources, 1400 16th St N.W.,
Suite 510, Washington, DC 20036 (202-483-7474 voice.
202-483-6410 fax, clr@cni.org lnternet)
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GRANTS AND CONTRACTS ACTIVE IN FIS

Unpaid
6.30/92

CAL 1993 (unaudited)

FY 1993

Grants
and Contracts Payments Unpard

(Adjustments) {Refunds) 6/30/93

Amencan Assoc ¢1-on ot Engincering Societies
Washington. 0.

Planning & thesaurus of engmeenne and scientitic werms 2.750

-0- 8.250 1.500

American Libran Association
Chicago. Il
Standards (ar etcal conduct Tor rare book, manuscnpt. and special

collections hibrarans 1,300

0- 1.800 0.

AsSOCICLON 0 “seearen L brones
“ashington, 0.0
ARL vistting prcram otticer ta improv ¢ interlibran toan and

document deiiven senvaces ==

Interhibrany foan cost study 200

10.700 -0)- 10,700

0= -0- 1000

Uarcia Bates
Van Nuvs, Calf.
t xamine the pessibility ot expanded entry vocabulane tor

Libran ot Congress subject headinas .000

California Steze vaversity
Chico, Cant.

Packet radio bremet extension 18

Catholic Unners = of Amenico
Washingtan, D.C
The intormation-seeking pattems ot faculty members and thair

use ot an onhine svstem -0-

-0- -0- 6.000

0- - 1O

1513 -0- 3513

College of Wiitsm and Mary
Williamsburg, \2

Scholarlv humanines communication in the electronic age -0-

1.725 1.725 0-

Columbia Urnessity
New York N.Y.

Recasting seienufic informanon delivery 50,000

Conservation Center for Art and Historic Artifacts

Philadelphia, Pa.

Rescarch on the preservatton and fabneation ot Amencan

darchitectural drawings to 1930 1916

{7.694) -0- 12,306

Q- 0- 1910




Y 1993

Grants
linpard and Contracts Pavments Unpand
6/30/92 {Adjustments) (Refunds} 6/30/93
tarlham College
Richmona, Ind.
Determining factors leading Eartham Cotlege araduates
10 enter library schools 1.000 156} 944 -()-
Eckera College
St. Petersburg, Fla.
College hbrary dircctor mentor program 16.000 -0- 12,000 4.000
Georgetown Unwversity
Washington, D.C
Support for ithe Sicaienic Visions Steenng Comniniee 5,000 13.694) 1,306 0-
Harvara University
Cambridge, Alass.
Strateqic planiumg process 50.000 -0- -0- 50.000
Charles R. Hildreth
Seattle, Wash.
Study ol functionality of online catalogs 11.000 -0- 1.000 10,000
Indiana University of Pennsvivanio
Indiana, Pa.
Hypermedia for improsed subgect aveess -0- 6.600 5.500 1.100
Vacahulary conmrol 10ols 1or enhine seiarchme -0- 4852 12,000 2.852
10,0001
Internationai federation of Librarv Associations ana Institutions
The Hague, Netherignds
H LA Fellows program 40,000 -0- 410,000 -0-
Japan Information Access Project
Washington, D.C
SVYRIPOSIUT 0N aecess (o, use ol and demand lor Japariese imformaton 500 -0- -0- 500
Johns Hopkins Unnversity
Boltimore, Ad.
Infornmion-seehing process among population studies researchess -0- 4,000 3.500 500
Knowledue management espanding the scholarly role ot rsearch hbraries 22,897 -0- -0- 22,897
hansas Stote Unnersity
Manhattan, Kans.
Nattonal preservation plan tor the lustoneal hiterature of agrculture -0- 7.000 6,250 750
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Fy 1993

Grants
Unpaid and Contracts Pavments Unpard
6/30/92 (Adjustments) (Retunds) 6/30/93
Library or Congress
washington, D.C
Last Luropean bibliograpines and kuropean networks conterence 875 -0- 875 -0-
Inaugural meenng of the Cooperative Cataloging Council -0- 1.961 -0- . 1961
Long Islang University
Brookwitle, N.Y.
Complete study of the effects of integranng mformanon
rechnologies on job classification and compensation systems 3.855 (184} 3671 -i)-
An analvtical bliography on library and informanon scienee educatnion -0- 3.000 -0- 3.000
utional Intormation Standards Organization
Bethesda, Ald.
Development ot 1echmeal standards Tor the preservagon ol librarv matenals 10,000 -0- -0- 10.000
Queens College
Flushing, N.Y.
Semunar serics on mappimg curncular revision -0- 6,600 3.500 3.100
Vaxine H. Reneker
Palo Alto, Calif
Information seeking among members o an academic community 500 -0- 500 : -0-
Rice Universitv
Houston, Tex.
The Rice humamnies clectronic studio 0- 65.060 30.000 35000
1 )
Rutgers University
New Brunswick, NJ.
. Study of the costs and heneficial impacts of library funcuons -0- 97,612 25.000 72,612
SKP Associates
- | New York, N.Y.
Fvaluation of the Cataloging in Publication program 12,500 -0- 12.500 -0-
B Simmons College
Boston, Mass.
study of the decision-making process for collection
. development i hbraries 859 1466) 393 -0-

Special Librories Association
B woshington, DC

Devetopment of continuing education coune on total quatity management 6.000 0= -0- 6.000
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"1 1993

Grants
Unpaid and Contracts Pavments Unpaid
6/30/92 {Adjustments} {Refunds) 6/30/93
State University of New York
Buffalo, N.Y.
Cooperauve pianning grant 50.000 -0- 50.000 (-
Studv o1 - surnal use survey parucipation -0- 1.650 1650 -0-
Jnwersity of Colifornia
Berkeley, Colif.
ilistory o1 the Japan Library School as part of LS. torvign mformanon policy -0- 2.500 2,500 -O-
University of Colifornia
Los Angeles, Calif.
Liucrdaton and validation ol 1he hnowleddge usea by reterence libranans 1.330 {439) -1)- 891
fochnology and structure o research libranes 1.000 -0- -0- 1.000
University of Californio
Riverside, Calif.
European Shont Titte Catalogue 16,500 -0- 16.500 -0-
Meeting on standardizanion of bibliographic form and genre termimology 3.000 -0- 3.000 -0-
Unwversity of Colorado
Boulder, Colo.
Ihstributing responsibilitics for accessind and imdeximg
polar regions informanon 15.190 -0- 12,000 3.190
Umversity ot Hknais
\..»n“ogo, 1.
fsers persistence in scanmng postings in an oniime public access catalog 1.330 -0- -0- 1.330 j
University of lliinois
Urbana, Il u
A hustory ol Argentina s National Library under the
directorship ol Hugo Wast, 1931-1955 500 11,191} 1691) -0-
Study ol searching sirateties on CD-ROM 2512 (3.552] {1.040} -0-
Umversity of Michigon L
4nn Arbor, Mich.
The library of the future: an analyucal report aond bibhiography -0- 7.000 6.000 1.000
Unversity of North Caroling
Chapel Hill, N.C.
| Cooperative information resources development 50.000 (10,000} 10,000 - .
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Y 1993
Grants
tapand and Contracts Pavments Unpaid
6/30/92 (Adjusunents) {Refunds) 6/30/93

Jnwversiny o° Pitisburgn
Pultsburge ra.

| b xamination of the etfects ot integranng, information

; sechnowogies on joh classification and compensanon systems 1.560 -0- 1.560 -0-
Unners:tv of South Carolina
Columpro S.C.

S Study of the knowledge and skilis requured for health
intormation protessionals 1.616 -0- 1.616 -0-
Urban L.orones Council

. fuanstor, !

3

L Semnar ot successtul public hbran financal pracuces 500 {60} 140 -0-
Lirqinig Povteennic Institute ano State Universits
g-acksourq. \a.
BlLuicksburg clectrome village project -0- 9.665 -0- 9,665
Yale Unnersity
New Hoven Conn.
[nstamt mathemancs prepnnt progect 1.500 {1.500} -0- -0-
Current yvear adjustments; other refunds and adjustments
f~om prior vear’s grants and contracts -0- {297} (297} -0-
Latals 5400.0138 $283.2/8 $305.980 5310.331

(69.133) 12.028)




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
COUNCIL ON LIBRARY RESOURCES, INC
Washington, D.C.

We have audited the balance sheet of COUNCIL ON LIBRARY RESOURCES, INC.
{the ~“Council™) as of June 30. 1993, and the related statements of revenue,
cxpenses and changes in fund balance. and cash flows for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Council’s management.
Our vesponsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit. The financial statements of the Council as of June 30. 1992, were
audited by other auditors whose report dated August 20, 1992, expressed an
unqualified opinion on those statements and are included for comparative
purposcs onlyv.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally aceepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and pertorm the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are tree of material
misstatement. Anaudit includes examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management. as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis tor our opinion.

In our opinion, the 1993 financial statements referved 10 above present fairly,
in all material respects. the financial position of COUNCIL ON LIBRARY
RESOURCES. INC. as of June 30. 1993, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the vear then ended in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Our audit was conducted lor the purpose ol forming an opinion on the basic
financial statements taken as a whole.  The accompanying supplementary
information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statementsand.
in our opinion. is fairly stated in all mawerial respects in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a wholce.

Vienna, Virginia
August 20, 1993
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Councyi on Library Resources, Inc.

BALANCE SHEET

JUNE 30, 1993
(With Comparative Totals For 1992)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Grants receivable:
Unrestricted
Restricted
(Other assets

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

Accounis pavable and accrued vxpenses
Grants and contracts payable:

Unresiricted

Restricted
Deferred revenuc:

Unrestricted

Restricted (Note C)

Total liabilities

TUND BALANCE:
Designated by Board of Dircctors (Note B)
Undesignated

Total tfund balance

SEE NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 208.056
1.782.386

300.000
213.000
16.984

$2,520,426

S 17.567

65.396
244935

600.000
142,131
1.070.029

939
1,449,458
1,450,397

52.520.426

Torals
1992

S 377.267
2.438.355

600.000
200.000
8.980

$3,624,602

S 13,536

116.640
283.398

900.000
337.852
1.651.426

47.589
1,925,587
1,973,176

$3.624,602




Council on Library Resources, Inc.

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1993
(With Comparative Totals For 1992)

Total Totals
Unrestricted Restricted 1993 1992
REVENUE:
(irants and contracts S 300.000 $208.721 S 508.721 S 501,343
Interest 118,605 2,047 120,652 216,304
Total revenue -418.605 210,768 629.373 717.647
FXPENSES:
Pregram:
Research - 27.864 27.864 155.458
Human resources 156,840 41,371 198.211 163.824
Access and processing 159,351 (13) 159,338 154.019
Economics 83.124 141,546 224,670 119,642
Infrastructure 242,383 - 242,383 149,405
Total program expenses 641.698 210.768 852,466 742,348
Administration 299,686 - 299,686 403.35%
Total expenses 941,384 210,768 1,152,152 1,145,703
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUE 7
OVER EXPENSES (522,779) - (522.,779) {428.056) ’
FUND BALANCE. BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,973,176 - 1,973,176 2,401,232
|
FUND BALANCE. END OF YEAR $1,450,397 S - $1.450,397 $1,973,176
|
|
|
] SEE NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATENMENTS - |
[ 5]
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Councu on Librarv Resources, Inc.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1993
(With Comparative Totals for 1992)

Totals
1993 1992
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Excess [deficiency) of revenue over expenses S (522.779) S (428,050)
Adjustments to reconcile deficiency of revenue over
expenses (o net cash used in operating activities:
Amontization of investment {discounts) premiums (3,464) 415
{Increase) decrease in grants receivable 287.000 (£00.000)
Decrease in other assets 12,946 12,108
Increase (deerease) in accounts pavable and accrued expenses 4.031 (3.110)
Decrease in grants and contracts pavable {89.707} (98.513)
{Decrease) increase in deferred revenue (495.721) 693,757
Total adjustments (286,915} (165,343)
Net cash used in operating activities (809,694) (593,399)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITHES:
Purchase of investments (1.459.517) (1.003.994)
Sale of investments 2,100,000 1,500,000
Net cash provided by investing activities 640,483 196,006
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (169.211) (97.393)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. BEGINNING OF YEAR 377,267 174,660
CASH AND CASI EQUIVALENTS. END OF YEAR $208,056 $377,207

SEE NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Councii on Library Resources, Inc.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 1993

A. ORGANIZATION

Council on Librane Resources, lie. (the "Council™ is a nonprotit
arganizanon meorporated under tie laws of the District ot Columbia

in 1956 for the purpose ot promoting library rescarch.

The Council's operanons are financed through unrestricied general
support grants and throush several restricted drants [rom private
foundations and sther sources. The Council conductsits work through
directty administered projects as wetl as grants 10 and comracts with
other orgintizations or imdividuals.

B. Stainiary Or S:endiicant Avcol Nt Poracics

The sizmificant accounuing poncies tollowed i the preparanon of the

financial stements are deseribed below:

Basis of accounting

The financial statements ot the Council have been prepared on the

acerual hasis.

Grant revenue

Grants To the Council are recorded as grnns recevable and as deferred
drant revenues when awarded. Revenues ol restricted grant funds are
recogmzed only to the extent ol expenditures thatsatisty the restricted
purposes of these grants.

Unrestricted grant revenue is recognized as income i accordance with

1he atlocated annal pay ments speciticd by the grinuors.

Grants and contracts pavooie

Grnus and contracts miaage by the Couneil are recorded as grants aud
contracts pavable and as an espense at the ne recipients are awarded
tte grants. Current pertod expenses are reduced for grant or contract

refunds or over appropriatons wlien recetved,

Cosh and cash equivalents, and investments
Cash and cash cquivalents consist prinanly ol deposits in a money

market mutual fund. Cash cquivalents represent investments with

onginal maturities of 90 davs or less. Investmenis which consist off

reasury notes and treasury hills are recorded at amortized cost which
approximates market. Interest which is not restricted by the related

grants s recogized as unrestricted revenue,

Functional atfocation of expenses

Losts of providing the vanous programs have been summarized on a
functional hisis in the acconpanvang financial statements. Centain
mdirect costs identified as support services costs have been allacated
directly 10 programs and administration on a systematic basis. These

costs primarily include salarv, henetits, rent and other expenses.

. Af

Board designated funds

In prior years, the Boird of Directors had designated a portion ot 1he
tund balance for varions short-term projects. During 199 3, amowus
tonalling $9.000 were wransierred 10 the undesignated Tund balanee.
representing a reduction i costs of the Councit’s Academie Library
Managenient Intern Program.

Reclasstfication
Cenain amounts have been reclassilied in the accompanying 1992
financial statements to conform 1o the 1993 presentation.  This

primarity refates 1o combining the accrued interest with the investenus.

C. Cuanoces In Restrictep DerrrrID REVENUE

Balance. heginning ot vear S 337.852
Additions:
Contract 13.000

Deducuons, Tunds expended or
refunded during the vear:

Granis (208,721)
Balance, end ol vear S142.131

D. IncoMe Taxts

The Councal, a private operating foundation, 1s exempt from federal
inconie tax under § 501c){3) of the Internat Revenue Code and
applicable regulations of the District of Columbia.

E. Remrevieat Pray

Employees are chuible tor pamepauon i the Councib's defined
contribution reurement annuny program (“the Plan™ admnusiered
through the TIAACREF insurance conpames.  Individual cortracts
issucd under the Plan provade for futl and immediae vesting ol the
Council's contributions,  The Council's comnbution wis $52.182 in
fiscal year 1993,

F. Coxcextrations Or Crepit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Council to con-
centrations of eredit risk consist primanly of cash equivalents,
investments and grants receivable,

At June 30. 1993, approxinately S191.400 in cash equivalents was
heing held by a third party in a money market mutual fund thatinvests
solely in United States government secunties.  Hhis amount is nat

insured by the Federal Deposit Insurinee Corporation.

Suhstanually alt grants receivable are with large foundations. fuis not
the Council’s poliev 1 require collateral for these receivables, Gener-
a'ly. the Council has not incurred any losses in relation to these
receivables.
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Council on Library Resources, Inc.
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1993
[With Comparative Totals For 1992)

UNRESTRICTED:

Grants and contracts

Refunds and over appropriations

Staff and travel

\dvisorv commitiees. consultants
and interns

Board expenses

Support services, including office
expenses

RESTRICTED:
Grants and contracts
Refunds and over appropriations
Staff and travel
Advisory committees, consultants and
interns
Support services, including ottice

CXpenses

SEE NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Research

32,250
(23.373)
2.000

1424

S 27.864

61

Human

Resources

S 12.100
(5.221)
10.910

414764

64,287
156,840

40.795

]

$198.211

Access
and
Processing

$ 76.877
{40.466]
41.954

16.699

(13)

2

$159.338




Econontics

108.312
(60)
30.306

2.988

141,546

$224,670

Infrastructure

$53.839

45,337

77.779

65,428
242,383

Total
Program

Expenses

$142,816
(45.687)
139.259

147,021

(o2 |SV)
TN V]
— O
o I N
O [
oo kO

140.562
(23.446)
32,877

15,207

$852,466

Adminisirative

S -

166.070

13.526
28.456

91,634
299,686

$299.686

62

Total
1993

S 142816
(45.687)
305.329

160.547
28.456

349,923
41,384

140.562
(23.446)
32,877

45.207

15,568
210,768

51,152,152

Totals
1992

$ 127.037
{2.685)
378.016

111.814
32,196

294,947
941.325

149.242
(70.586)
9.414

40.885

$1.145.703

1
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INDEX

Note: This index covers only the main
bodv of the annual report. not the
special inser,

Academic Library Managenment Intern
Program, 14

Aluman, tlen. 16

Amcrican Council of Learned
Socicties, 16. 23

Amcrican Library Association. 15

Andrews, Martha, 25, 26

Association for Library and Information
Science Lducation, 24

Association for Library Collections and
Technical Services, 16

Association of College and Rescarch
Librances. 15

Assocranion ot Rescarch Libraries. 18

ATHT Foundation. 19

Atkinson. Ross, 27

Baker. Shirlev. 18

Balancmg the Book§. 18

Banolo. Laura. 25

Bates, Maraia, 27

Bauy. David. 27

Becebe, Jane, 27

Bibliographic Services Study
Committee, 29

Biggs. Mary, 16

Biggs. Victor, 16

Bishop. Ann. 25

Blacksburg Electronie Village
Project. 24

Blixrud. Julia C., 33

Bosscau, Don. 16

Bourdon, Francoise, 24, 26

Branch. Katherine, 26

Brown, Chariotte, 27 =

Bustion, Marifran, 18 @

Campbell, Jerrv. 14

Cataloging in Publicauon Program, 26

Catholic University, 25

Chressanthis, George AL, 17

Chressanthis, June D., 17

Clinca. Georgeta, 24

Cloonan. Michele, 24

CLR Fellows Program, 33

Coalition for Networked
Information, 20

Coliege Library Director Mentor
Program. 14

College of William and Marv. 23

Columbia Un'versity, 18, 21, 22

Commitce on Access 1o Information
Resources (ARL). 18

CONSER Program. 26

Cooperauve Cataloging Council, 26

Cooperative Resecarch Prograni. 33

D'Arienzo. Daria. 27

De Gennaro, Richard, 14

Duke University, 14, 22

Eariham College, 16

lickerd College, 14, 15

Eltinge, John L., 18

Engircering Foundation, 19

[aploration ol a Natienal Fngineering
Information Scrvice, 19

Iairley, Craig Ross, 24

Farber. Evan, 16

l'ord Foundation, 13

Futas. Elizabeth, 17

Genz, Janct, 27

J. Paul Geuy I'must, 9

Getty At History Information Program.

23

Giral. Angela. 26

Gordon, Heather, 14

Guerrero. Elda-Monica, 24

Gwinn, Nancy, 27

Hardestv. Larry, 15

Harer, John, 18

Harvard Colicge. 14

Harvard University. 21-22

Hemmasi. Harricue, 27

William and Flora Hewlen
Foundation, 9. 17

Hildreth, Charles. 28

Hill. Kenneth He, 26

Hsich-Yce. Ingrid, 25

Hutchinson, Heidi, 26

Indiana University ol Pennsylvania, 28

International Federation of Library
Associations and [nstitutions, 24

Intner, Sheila. 27

Jackson, Mary. 18

Johns Hopkins University, 26

Journal of Academic Librarianship, 16

Journal of Library Administration. 9

Keeping the BookS. 18

W. K. Kellogg Foundation. 9

Lambrecht, Jay, 24

Lancaster, F W, 25

Library of Congress, 23

Lilrary of Cangress Subject
Headings, 27

[ ong Island Univensitv, 15,16

Loyvola University, 15

McQueen, Judy, 14

Marchionini. Gary, 25

Marcum, Tom, 25

Martin, Susan, 16

Mavlone, Theresa. 16

Medical Library Association, 15

Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, 9, 13

Merritt, Floyd, 27

Micco. Mary. 28

Mississippi State University, 17

Molholt, Pat, 27

Music Library Association, 27

Musmann, Kiaus, 24

National Agricultural Library, 27, 28

National Coordinated Cataloging
Program, 26

National Fngincering Information
Initiative, 19-21

National Information Standards
Organization, 23

National Institute for Science and
Technology. 20

National Library of Mudicine, 15

Nationat Scienee Foundaton, 19

Newwork Advisory Committee. 2 3-24

North Carolina State Universitv, 22

Platform for Change, 15

Price, Lois Olecott. 27

Promis, Patricia, 16

Proposal Review Committee, 29

Queens College. CUNY. 15

Rencker. Maxine. 25

Research Libraries Group, 18

Research Library Commiuee, 21

Rice University, 23

Robinson, Lynn. 27

Roche, Marilyn M.. 18

“Role of State Library Agencies in the
tvolving National Information
Newwork,™ 24

Roosa. Mark, 24

Roper, Fred. 15

Rutgers Universitv, 18, 27

San Dicgo State Uiniversitv, 16

Singer. L. ferri. 26

SKP Associates. 26

Smith, Timothy. 25

Smith, Wendy. 24

Snyder. Henry. 26

Special Libraries Association, 19

Stalker, laura, 27

Stanford University, 25

State University of New York, 18, 22

“Statement {rom the Rescarch Library
Committee,” 21

Stetaniak, Barbara. 24

Strategic Visions Discussion Group, 15

Study Group on the Microcconomics of

Library Operations, 29

Sywak. Myron. 16

Tavlor. Angela, 26

Thomas, Sarah. 28

Tiefel, Virgima. 28

I'riangle Research Libraries
Network, 18, 22

United States Agriculwural Information
Network, 27

University Libraries and Scholarly
Communication, 13

University of Colorado, 26

University of lilinois. Urbana-
Champaign. 25

University of Michigan, 28

University of North Carolina at Chapel
Hill, 22

University of South Carelina, 15

University of South Florida, 26

Urban Libraries Council. 18

van der Werf, Titia, 24

Vosper, Roben, 24

Walckicrs, Marc, 24

Washington University, 18

Wellheiser, Johanna. 24

Whitchead, Cathy, 27

Woodsworth, Anne, 16

Yale University, 26

Zipkowiwz, Fay, 17
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Council on Library Resources
1400 16th Street, N.W., Suite 510
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 483-7474
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